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institution and the Department and oversee, as operations, you 

oversee all the custody aspects of the institution, meaning 

anything in uniform in the security facility.  

MICHELLE ALANIS: As the Associate Warden, did you 

review incident reports in NOTIS? 

WARDEN ADAMS:  Yes ma’am.  

MICHELLE ALANIS: And, what would be your role in 

reviewing the NOTIS reports?  

WARDEN ADAMS:  Well, I reviewed every—every 

report, when the inmate was written up—they call it written 

up, it’s a Notice of Charges.  Any time an inmate got a Notice 

of Charges, I would go through NOTIS in the morning and read 

each and every report that was put in from the day prior.  

Then assign charges or check and make sure the charges were 

correct, as assigned to the inmate and what have you.  

That would be the Notice of Charges.  If there were 

any other reports, such as security breaches, use of forces, 

anything like that, that would be up to me to review and make 

sure that everything was straight and the Lieutenants and 

Sergeants had done their jobs and staff had done theirs.  

MICHELLE ALANIS: And, if you reviewed something 

and it didn’t appear like somebody had done their job, what 

action would you take? 

WARDEN ADAMS:  My first thing would be to call 

the shift lieutenant in and ask him to explain what’s going 
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on, why, what have you.  If it had to go down further than 

that, you know—generally lieutenant would deal with the 

sergeant, sergeant would deal with the officers, you know, it 

goes downhill.  

If I had to review with just the officer himself, 

that means there’s generally something is wrong-wrong with the 

report.  Depending on what the report was, what was wrong with 

it, it may be referred to the Inspector General’s Office for 

investigation.  If it appeared it was something seriously 

wrong or if some policy or procedure had been violated.  

MICHELLE ALANIS: And, you said as the Assistant 

Warden of Operations, you were involved in reviewing and 

implementing various policies and procedures, right?  

WARDEN ADAMS:  Yes ma’am.  

MICHELLE ALANIS: Did that include reviewing the 

Administration Regulations?  

WARDEN ADAMS:  As far as the Administrative 

Regulations, as Associate Warden, yeah, you could review but 

you’d have input.  Like, they would set a team together and 

you might have a Warden, two, three Associate Wardens, 

whatever you need to review them and suggest whatever changes 

through the Administration, through the Director’s Office.   

MICHELLE ALANIS: Okay.  

WARDEN ADAMS:  Mostly that—mostly that we 

actually had as far as an Associate Warden that you had 
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authority to change your operational procedures which are 

institutional level. 

MICHELLE ALANIS: Okay.  So, the operational 

procedures, you could review, modify and kind of implement 

those procedures.  

WARDEN ADAMS:  Yes.  Yes.   

MICHELLE ALANIS: Okay.  And, are you familiar 

with Operational Procedure 405? 

WARDEN ADAMS:  Use of Force.  Yes.  

MICHELLE ALANIS: And, is this something that gets 

reviewed and changed periodically?  

WARDEN ADAMS:  Well, it’s reviewed yearly, 

unless something comes up that requires attention, it can be 

reviewed as often as necessary and modified.  

MICHELLE ALANIS: And, to your knowledge, is the 

operational—OP 405, Use of Force, is that a confidential OP?  

Is it in the-- 

WARDEN ADAMS:  From?  OP 405 would be 

confidential from inmates, to an extent.  

MICHELLE ALANIS: Okay.  And, are you also 

familiar with OP 407? 

WARDEN ADAMS:  [pause]   

MICHELLE ALANIS: The-- 

WARDEN ADAMS:  Give me the name of it and I’ll 

tell you.  
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MICHELLE ALANIS: I’m testing you huh? 

WARDEN ADAMS:  It’s been almost two years.  

MICHELLE ALANIS: Operational Procedure 407, Use 

of Handcuffs-- 

WARDEN ADAMS:  Yes. 

MICHELLE ALANIS: --and Restraints.  Okay.  And, 

can you explain to me what a post-order is? 

WARDEN ADAMS:  A post-order is a detailed 

written guideline for staff when they assume post.  That’s 

like a unit officer, if an individual works in a housing unit, 

his post order will say—you know, I believe at that time, it 

was post order 10, I want to say, for housing procedures.  It 

would say, you let the inmates out at this time.  They—any 

inmates that are going to work, you send them at this time.   

It’s really kind of like a breakdown of what your 

duties are and each post would have the different ones.  The 

Tower Officers would have post orders for their tower.  The 

Search and Escort Officers have a post order for their 

position.  The property officers have a position confirming 

everybody up to and including the shift lieutenant has a post-

order.  

MICHELLE ALANIS: Okay.  And, are post-orders 

considered confidential? 

WARDEN ADAMS:  I believe, yes, from inmates, 

they were when I was there.   
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MICHELLE ALANIS: Okay.   

WARDEN ADAMS:  Nothing is confidential from 

staff.  

MICHELLE ALANIS: Right, sorry. 

WARDEN ADAMS:  When you say “confidential”, 

it’s inmate view.  

MICHELLE ALANIS: It’s not meant for the inmates 

or-- 

WARDEN ADAMS:  Correct.  

MICHELLE ALANIS: --for the public necessarily to 

know-- 

WARDEN ADAMS:  Correct. 

MICHELLE ALANIS: --these safety procedures.  

WARDEN ADAMS:  Correct.  

MICHELLE ALANIS: Can you tell me a little bit, as 

the Assistant Warden of Operations and in your 32 years of 

experience, the training that the officers receive on use of 

force? 

WARDEN ADAMS:  That would fall directly under 

Administrative Regulation 405, which covers the entire 

department.  That would go through the Training Division, 

which is also governed by POST, which is Peace Officers 

Standards and Training, for the State.  So, that governs all 

police departments, jails, prisons, all that stuff.  That 

would be a requirement of that.   
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As they go through Academy training to begin with, 

after which it’s an ongoing yearly, what they call 

Professional Employee Refresher Course, AR 405.  AR 405 is to 

be reviewed whenever you’re doing use of force training; such 

as if you go to the range, you’re supposed to review 405 and 

the officers will initial they reviewed 405 that day, prior to 

shooting.   

When you go handcuffs training and all this—anything 

that has to do with a use of force, the OP and AR have to be 

reviewed at that time, during the training.  Generally it’s 

done in a classroom setting.  Occasionally, it’s done in a 

practical setting.  So, just the firing range, taser training, 

gas training, stuff like that.   

To break it down, they have a Use of Force 

Continuum, which is from officer presence, all the way up to 

deadly force.  So, it’s when force is necessary, when force is 

authorized and what level of force is authorized for the 

corresponding threat level that you’re dealing with. 

MICHELLE ALANIS: Okay.  

WARDEN ADAMS:  Does that make sense?  

MICHELLE ALANIS: Yes.  Does the use of force 

training include any techniques of an officer using his arm to 

place it around an inmate’s neck, almost like-- 

WARDEN ADAMS:  As in a choke hold? 

MICHELLE ALANIS: Yes.  
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WARDEN ADAMS:  No ma’am, absolutely not.  

MICHELLE ALANIS: And that’s not-- 

WARDEN ADAMS:  That’s not only unauthorized, 

it’s illegal.  

MICHELLE ALANIS: [pause]  What do you mean by 

it’s illegal? 

WARDEN ADAMS:  Within Nevada Revised Statutes, 

I don’t even believe Metro—Metro used to have it in the Use of 

Force Continuum, I don’t believe they do any more.  I don’t 

think there’s any police department— 

DANIEL MARKS:  Your Honor, he’s not, you know, 

here as a lawyer, and why don’t we leave it to you and the 

argument about a choke hold.  It’s not really relevant, I 

think to the issue we’re here for.   

HEARING OFFICER: I’m assuming she’s almost done 

anyways, right?  On the chokehold aspect. 

MICHELLE ALANIS: Yeah, I was—I was just 

[crosstalk]  

DANIEL MARKS:  We don’t believe it is, but our 

guy didn’t do it and I don’t think he can testify as a legal 

expert, with all due respect to his experience.  You would 

need somebody from the DA’s Office or some law enforcement— 

HEARING OFFICER: You’re probably right.  You’re 

probably right.  But I think she was done anyways. 
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MICHELLE ALANIS: Yeah, I’m not having him testify 

as an expert, but obviously the choke hold is relevant to what 

we’re dealing with in this video.  Officer Navarrete may have 

not actually been the one to do it, but he was there for the 

entirety of the incident.   

DANIEL MARKS:  Right, but he didn’t do it.  

HEARING OFFICER: Right, I’m aware of the status 

of the facts.  Go on ahead.   

MICHELLE ALANIS: All right.  Can you tell me, 

Assistant Warden Adams, so Officer Navarrete was a Senior 

Officer.  There’s been a little bit of testimony—obviously as 

a Senior Officer, he holds a higher rank than a correctional 

officer, correct? 

WARDEN ADAMS:  Yes.  

MICHELLE ALANIS: What are the expectations of a 

Senior Officer? 

WARDEN ADAMS:  Senior Officers are supposed to 

train junior staff, new ones coming in and continue the 

training of, even the seasoned and non-probationary staff and 

as they’re placed online staff, they’re like a first line 

supervisor as far as dealing with the other staff there.  

They’re the ones that can make decisions, snap decisions on 

the spot when the Sergeant is not there or what have you.  

They also work, often times, as a Senior Officer, you’re 

placed in what’s called an Acting Sergeant position.  In other 
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words, if the shift sergeant is not there or what have you, a 

Senior Officer will be placed as the shift sergeant for that 

day.  So, they have that type of authority, training and 

experience.   

MICHELLE ALANIS: So, while they—they don’t 

necessarily have a supervisor role where they’re approving 

time off and things like that, right?  

WARDEN ADAMS:  Not unless they’re in an active 

sergeant position. 

MICHELLE ALANIS: Okay.  More of a first line 

supervisor on the job.  

WARDEN ADAMS:  Yes, first line supervisor.  

DANIEL MARKS:  Your Honor, can we agree that he 

was not acting as a—I mean, we’re getting field.  Can we all 

stipulate, Navarrete was not the acting sergeant at the time 

[inaudible] and just cut to the chase?  Because I don’t want 

there to be a misleading— 

MICHELLE ALANIS: I’m not trying to establish that 

he was the acting— 

DANIEL MARKS:  Okay. 

MICHELLE ALANIS: I mean, that’s fine.  I know he 

wasn’t the acting sergeant.   

DANIEL MARKS:  Okay, great.  

MICHELLE ALANIS: I was just establishing his role 

as a Senior.  
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DANIEL MARKS:  Thank you.   

MICHELLE ALANIS: And, if I could have you look at 

Exhibit D in the book to your right.  It starts with bate 

stamp NDOC 179.   

WARDEN ADAMS:  All right.  

MICHELLE ALANIS: It goes to 194. 

WARDEN ADAMS:  Okay.   

MICHELLE ALANIS: Is this the AR 405 that you were 

familiar with, Use of Force?  

WARDEN ADAMS:  Yes.  

MICHELLE ALANIS: Okay.  And, if I could just have 

you flip to Page 2, NDOC 180.  It looks like the sixth one 

down.  It says, Spontaneous Use of Force, actions that staff 

may immediately take in response to an emergency situation.  

WARDEN ADAMS:  Yes ma’am.  

MICHELLE ALANIS: So, for a spontaneous use of 

force, as the Associate Warden, what type of emergency 

situation would you be looking for?  

WARDEN ADAMS:  An inmate attempting to escape.  

Inmate assault on another inmate.  Inmate assault on staff.  

Something that had to be dealt with immediately, right away.  

MICHELLE ALANIS: And, looking at the next page, 

NDOC 181, it looks like Section 405.3, when force may be used.  

Would you agree that force is typically used when there’s a 

threat of physical harm? 

00493
JA 0762



   

 

211 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

 

WARDEN ADAMS:  Yes.  

MICHELLE ALANIS: Okay.  And, if we look at 

Section 2A, any staff witnessing a use of force that is either 

excessive or unnecessary is required to immediately report 

their observations.  So, even if you didn’t engage in a use of 

force, or an unnecessary use of force, you have an obligation 

to report it?  

WARDEN ADAMS:  Yes, you have an obligation to 

report authorized use of force, unauthorized use of force, 

excessive use of force.  It doesn’t matter what.  If you 

witness any kind of use of force, you’re obligated to report 

it.   

MICHELLE ALANIS: Okay.  And, let’s see.  If I 

could have you flip to Page 4 which is NDOC 182.  And, taking 

all the way to the bottom, Section B.  It’s under #7, Levels 

of force.  It talks about spontaneous use of force and again, 

used to respond to an emergency when there’s no time to 

formulate a plan.   

WARDEN ADAMS:  Yes.  

MICHELLE ALANIS: So, is it your experience that 

typically a spontaneous use of force, that there’s not a lot 

of time to respond and come up with other alternatives?  

WARDEN ADAMS:  Correct.  That’s exactly—that’s 

what was written.  It is spontaneous is exactly right.  

Spontaneous as in, if you’re standing there doing your job and 
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two inmates start fighting, you don’t have time to call the 

supervisor and make a plan of, we’re going to do this and this 

and this.  If they’re in a secured area, such as they’re 

locked into a cell—there’s two inmates locked in a cell.  If 

one is not actually killing the other, you have all the time 

in the world to plan yourself, to go in there and get 

everything straight to minimize risk of injury to yourself or 

the participants.   

For like if you’re standing there and an inmate 

starts hitting staff members or running for the fence or 

something like that, you may not—you don’t have the time to 

stop and think and formulate, you have to act immediately.  

MICHELLE ALANIS: And, if I could have you turn to 

Exhibit J.  And J goes from 309 to 328. 

WARDEN ADAMS:  Okay. 

MICHELLE ALANIS: Are you familiar with this 

Operational Procedure? 

WARDEN ADAMS:  Yes ma’am.  

MICHELLE ALANIS: Okay.  And, actually, if I could 

have you look at NDOC bate stamp 325.   

WARDEN ADAMS:  Yes ma’am. 

MICHELLE ALANIS: Is that your signature about 

midway down the page?  

WARDEN ADAMS:  Yes ma’am, it is.  
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MICHELLE ALANIS: Okay. And so, were you part of—

was this part of your review and implementation process of 

this Operational Procedure? 

WARDEN ADAMS:  Yes ma’am, I would’ve reviewed 

it, made changes necessary with staff input and other 

supervisor’s input and then once it’s all done, I would sign 

off on it.  The other Associate Warden of Programs, is Frank 

[inaudible], he signed it.  Warden Williams would’ve signed it 

with approval and then, it says, Acting Deputy Director Nevin.  

It goes all the way up to him for signature—for approval.  So, 

all these people that are signatures are on here, have 

reviewed and approved it.  

MICHELLE ALANIS: Okay.  And if I could have you 

turn to NDOC 310, the second page of that OP.  Under the 

general information, #5, you would agree with me that this 

Operational Procedure prohibits force being used for any 

vindictive or retaliatory purposes?   

WARDEN ADAMS:  Yes ma’am, absolutely.  

MICHELLE ALANIS: Okay.  And, it also notes that 

use of excessive or unreasonable force may lead to criminal 

prosecution, a civil suit and disciplinary action, right? 

WARDEN ADAMS:  Yes ma’am. 

MICHELLE ALANIS: And, Operational Procedures, all 

the employees are familiar with these, right? 

WARDEN ADAMS:  They’re required to be, yes.  
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MICHELLE ALANIS: Okay.  And, as far as a civil 

suit—well, I’ll go back to that.  And, this Operational 

Procedure also outlines, I think as you mentioned the amount 

of force proportionate to what’s occurring, right?  

WARDEN ADAMS:  Right.  Or, should match the 

level of threat.  

MICHELLE ALANIS: Okay.  And, if I could draw your 

attention to NDOC 311, under 405.03, Alternatives to use of 

force.  Are you there?  

WARDEN ADAMS:  Yes ma’am.  

MICHELLE ALANIS: Okay.  All right so, prior to 

any force being used, you—officers are trained on various 

techniques that they can do?  

WARDEN ADAMS:  Yes ma’am.  

MICHELLE ALANIS: And that includes the verbal and 

non-verbal de-escalation?  

WARDEN ADAMS:  Yes ma’am.  

MICHELLE ALANIS: And, waiting for inmates to cool 

down? 

WARDEN ADAMS:  Uh huh. 

MICHELLE ALANIS: Calling additional staff?  

WARDEN ADAMS:  Right, for a show of force and-- 

MICHELLE ALANIS: Okay.   

WARDEN ADAMS:  You’ve got one inmate and you 

show up with four officers, [inaudible] calm down.   
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MICHELLE ALANIS: And, if I could have you turn 

to—sorry, Exhibit K, OP 407.  Which consists of NDOC 329 and 

332. 

WARDEN ADAMS:  Yes ma’am.  

MICHELLE ALANIS: Is this the OP 407 that we 

discussed a little bit earlier?  

WARDEN ADAMS:  Yes.  

MICHELLE ALANIS: You’re familiar with this 

Operating Procedure? 

WARDEN ADAMS:  Yes ma’am.  

MICHELLE ALANIS: Okay.  And again, looking at the 

last page, NDOC 332, is that your signature on this page?  

Sorry.  

WARDEN ADAMS:  Yes ma’am.  It is.  

MICHELLE ALANIS: Okay.  So, similar to OP 405, 

you helped review and implement this Operational Procedure?  

WARDEN ADAMS:  Yes ma’am.  

MICHELLE ALANIS: Okay.  And again, this is 

something familiar to the staff, including the officers?  

WARDEN ADAMS:  Yes ma’am.  

MICHELLE ALANIS: Okay.  And, if I could have you 

turn to Exhibit L which consists of NDOC 333-349.   

WARDEN ADAMS:  Yes ma’am.  

MICHELLE ALANIS: Okay.  And when you talked about 

earlier, post-orders for all the various posts, this is Post 
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Order H, for Search and Escort Officers.  Are you familiar 

with this post-order?  

WARDEN ADAMS:  Yes ma’am.  

MICHELLE ALANIS: And, if Senior Officer Navarrete 

was assigned to Search and Escort, he would’ve had to comply 

with this post-order, correct?  

WARDEN ADAMS:  Yes ma’am.  

MICHELLE ALANIS: And, are the officers actually 

required to sign the post orders?  

WARDEN ADAMS:  They’re required to—they’re 

required to read it thoroughly, when they first take that 

post, as in, if you take the post in June, they’re supposed to 

read this thoroughly and sign it.  Every time you resume the 

post, so if you come in tomorrow, you’re supposed review it 

and look and see if there’s been any changes and then you’re 

supposed to sign it.  Yes.  

MICHELLE ALANIS: So, not only are they required 

to be familiar and review the post orders, but they have to 

review it on a daily basis when they-- 

WARDEN ADAMS:  If they take that post on a 

daily basis, they review it and look for any like, addendums, 

anything new.  

MICHELLE ALANIS: Okay.   

WARDEN ADAMS:  It can be a quick scan through 

to make sure nothing has changed.  
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MICHELLE ALANIS: Okay.  And, if I could have you 

turn to NDOC 334, the second page of that post-order.  H.01 

Staffing, the first section there, #1.  

WARDEN ADAMS:  Uh huh. 

MICHELLE ALANIS: The very last item says, a 

Senior Correctional Officer will be assigned to the Search and 

Escort Officer A, position on each shift.  What does that 

mean? 

WARDEN ADAMS:  Like, on first shift you have 

three officers.  Swing shift, you have three officers.  

Graveyard you have two legislatively approved officers.  So, 

the A is usually like, just the A—Search and Escort A, Search 

and Escort B, Search and Escort C.  Search and Escort A is a 

Senior Officer because he is now the first line supervisor for 

Search and Escort B and Search and Escort C.  

MICHELLE ALANIS: Okay.  So, the A position is 

that senior first line supervisor.  

WARDEN ADAMS:  Yeah, he’s the one who takes the 

lead, or he or she is the one who takes the lead in their 

operations for the day. 

MICHELLE ALANIS: Okay.  And, if I could have you 

turn to NDOC 336.  #3, it looks like for this post, Officers 

must conduct themselves in a professional at all times dealing 

with both staff and with inmates, right?  

WARDEN ADAMS:  Yes ma’am.  
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MICHELLE ALANIS: And that’s even if—even if the 

inmates are becoming—making verbal comments.  They still have 

to conduct themselves in a professional manner, right?  

WARDEN ADAMS:  Yes ma’am. 

MICHELLE ALANIS: In looking at #5, Search and 

Escort Officers will enforce all rules, regulations and 

procedures.  One of the things that’s noted there is to avoid 

turning minor problems into major confrontations, right?  

WARDEN ADAMS:  Yes ma’am.  

MICHELLE ALANIS: And, as a senior officer would 

that responsibility—would they have an increased 

responsibility to make sure that there’s no minor problem or 

no major confrontations for minor problems? 

WARDEN ADAMS:  Yes ma’am.  They’re supposed to 

be dealing with their line staff.  If there’s an issue or what 

have you, they should intervene, intercede and say, you know, 

hey, this is what’s happening or you’re not doing this.  Why 

don’t you take a break and I’ll deal with this inmate myself, 

something like that.  And then, if he can’t deal with the 

situation or he can’t resolve it then he takes the inmate down 

to the Sergeant’s office and they deal with the Sergeant and 

Lieutenant.  

MICHELLE ALANIS: Hearing Officer Gentile, I’ve 

like to have J, K and L admitted at this time.  I know you 
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withheld.  Before he leaves the stand, I’d rather address this 

now.  

HEARING OFFICER: Okay.  So, J— 

MICHELLE ALANIS: J is OP 405.  K is OP 407.  L is 

the post-order.  

HEARING OFFICER: Any objection to that? 

DANIEL MARKS:  No.  No objection.  

HEARING OFFICER: Okay.  They’ll be admitted.   

DANIEL MARKS:  I just don’t think they should 

be confidential in our setting.  I’m not about to show them to 

inmates, but I don’t want to be inadvertently, if I file 

something in court or later, I don’t think they should be 

deemed confidential in the legal side.  

HEARING OFFICER: Okay.  Well, I don’t think that 

issue has even come up, so-- 

MICHELLE ALANIS: Again, I realize it kind of 

complicates it.  All my understanding is, through the inmate 

litigation as well, is that when it gets filed and it gets 

attached—obviously inmates know—you know, they have people, 

they can have people access things.  So, I think it’s the 

concern that maybe the information could get leaked to an 

inmate.  That was my understanding and that’s why they’re 

typically submitted under seal, even to the federal court, is 

my understanding.  

HEARING OFFICER: Okay.  
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DANIEL MARKS:  But they prosecuted in state 

court, I assume this stuff would’ve come out. 

MICHELLE ALANIS: I don’t know if they presented 

these or not.  I wasn’t at that hearing.  

HEARING OFFICER: So, are you asking me to do 

something special or— 

MICHELLE ALANIS: I guess for now, if we could 

just maintain them submitted under seal, rather than a filing 

with the— 

HEARING OFFICER: That’s—that’s fine.  And then 

the people, if the record ever gets— 

MICHELLE ALANIS: I’ve had it both ways actually.  

I’ve seen records where the OPs didn’t get submitted under 

seal and then I’ve seen some where they’ve maintained it 

through the PJR portion.  

HEARING OFFICER: So, you want all three of those 

under seal? 

MICHELLE ALANIS: Actually no.  I believe it’s 

just the use of force.   

HEARING OFFICER: Which one is it? 

MICHELLE ALANIS: OP 405, Exhibit J.  

HEARING OFFICER: Yeah. 

MICHELLE ALANIS: And then Exhibit L.  

HEARING OFFICER: Okay.  

MICHELLE ALANIS: The restraints— 
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HEARING OFFICER: I’ll note that they’re under 

seal.  

MICHELLE ALANIS: Okay.  

HEARING OFFICER: And then they can do whatever 

they’ve got to do.  

MICHELLE ALANIS: Okay.   

DANIEL MARKS:  But the other use of force is 

not under seal.  

MICHELLE ALANIS: The AR is public.  That is not a 

confidential—you can actually go on the NDOC website and 

access them.  

DANIEL MARKS:  Right, okay.   

MICHELLE ALANIS: Associate Warden Adams, are you 

familiar with Jose Navarrete? 

WARDEN ADAMS:  Yes ma’am. 

MICHELLE ALANIS: How are you familiar with him? 

WARDEN ADAMS:  I worked with him for quite a 

while.  He was one of our officers at Southern Desert and one 

of our Senior Officers.  

MICHELLE ALANIS: And, do you recall an incident 

on October 9, 2016 which involved a use of force?  

WARDEN ADAMS:  You talking about the one that’s 

going on here?  Yes.  Absolutely.   

MICHELLE ALANIS: Yes.  How did you first learn of 

this incident? 
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WARDEN ADAMS:  Associate Warden of Programs 

Dreason [phonetic] is the grievance coordinator for Southern 

Desert Correctional Center.  He would contact me if there was 

an inmate grievance or something filed against a custody 

staff, because they’re my people, I’m supposed to deal with it 

and look into it.   

So, a grievance had been filed.  I want to say, I 

can’t remember the guy’s name.  

MICHELLE ALANIS: The inmate?  

WARDEN ADAMS:  Yeah.  

MICHELLE ALANIS: Norales.  

WARDEN ADAMS:  Norales.  

MICHELLE ALANIS: Ricky Norales.  

WARDEN ADAMS:  Had filed a grievance.  So, what 

that does is, I’ll then go into the NOTIS System, Nevada 

Offender Tracking Information System.  Go look it up, see his 

grievance, what Dreason had given me.  I read it and the first 

thing that I’m actually supposed to do is, check into it and 

see if this grievance can be disproved.   

In other words, [inaudible] October 9th, yaddy, 

yaddy, yadda, because Officer Navarrete was on this knee on 

that day, yaddy, yadda.  So, I will look up the rosters for 

that day.  Was Navarrete on this [inaudible].  If he wasn’t, 

then the grievance doesn’t really have a whole lot of merit.  
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If he is, then I go to the next step—where was he at this 

particular time of day.   

I would have a shift supervisor go over to the 

culinary, in particular grievance.  Have the shift supervisor 

go over to culinary and download for me on one of our flash 

drives, the video and all that other good stuff.  Bring it 

back to me.  Then I looked it.  When I looked at that, read 

the grievances, then I go in and I check all of the staff 

involved, their reports.  NOTIS charges against the inmate.  

Whatever is there.   

If everything looks correct, copasetic, what have 

you, then it’s over and done with and then they’ll be told, 

your grievance process will be dealt with through disciplinary 

because if he’s got a write up or charges coming up for him, 

if he’s found guilty of whatever it is he was accused of, if 

he did it and what he’s complaining about does not—a non-

grieveable issue, his grievance will be denied and sent down 

the way.   

If it’s not that and his issue is grieveable and 

holds merit, then if it’s something that I can deal with on my 

level, that’s what I deal with it on my level.  If it’s 

something I cannot deal with at my level or I’m not supposed 

to deal with at my level, I go back in NOTIS and at the top of 

the screen, there’s a thing that says, refer to IG 

Investigations.  I check that box.  I give them a one line 
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issue why was it referred.  I send it off and then I get 

notified, yes, it was referred for investigation.  Pretty much 

that’s all I have to do with it at that time.  

MICHELLE ALANIS: Okay.  So, did there come a 

point where you reviewed the video? 

WARDEN ADAMS:  Yes ma’am.  The video and all 

reports.  

MICHELLE ALANIS: And—okay.  And when you reviewed 

the video, what did you do at that time? 

WARDEN ADAMS:  Well, when I reviewed the video, 

I— 

DANIEL MARKS:  Can we have some foundation 

because these dates could be important? 

HEARING OFFICER: Okay.  

MICHELLE ALANIS: I don’t think—okay.  

DANIEL MARKS:  Well, I’d like some foundation.  

If he doesn’t know, he doesn’t know.  

HEARING OFFICER: Right.  

MICHELLE ALANIS: Do you know when you reviewed 

the video? 

WARDEN ADAMS:  We’d have to get with Dreason to 

see when he sent me the grievance.  Probably a couple of days 

after the incident would be when the grievance came through.   

MICHELLE ALANIS: Okay.   
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WARDEN ADAMS:  To add to your foundation, as 

the Associate Warden, I get grievances, stacks of them per 

day.  So, as far as, what day did this happen?  I’ve been 

retired for almost two years.  No, I don’t know what day.  

HEARING OFFICER: Okay.  

MICHELLE ALANIS: So, this incident occurred 

October 9, 2016.  So, you would’ve reviewed the video—you 

wouldn’t have reviewed the video that same day, right?  

WARDEN ADAMS:  No.  What usually happens, if 

there was a use of force, provided they notified their shift 

supervisor that there was a use of force, relatively sure they 

did since the inmate went to the infirmary.  I would’ve got a 

phone call because I’m the on-call guy.  I would’ve got a 

phone call that day and again, use of force happens often.   

Inmates will often get in fights or they will turn 

on officers.  They’ll do any number of things.  I’ll get a 

phone call.  Anybody hurt?  No, nobody was hurt.  Did he go to 

the infirmary?   Yes, he went to the infirmary.  And then, I’m 

not going to go in looking for it that day unless they said, 

shots were fired, which also happens on a regular basis or gas 

or taser was deployed, something like that.  A hands-on, a 

regular hands-on use of force, I’m not going to go search for 

it that day, I’ll wait for the reports to come in and 

[inaudible]. 
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What they do at breakfast time, they’ve got until 

the end of their shift to get those reports done because they 

can’t just stop feeding 2,200 inmates to go write a report and 

come back.  So, it might take me that afternoon or the 

following day to read reports and get everything straight and 

all this other stuff.  Unless the inmate files a grievance, 

all I have is staff report and inmate—or, staff report and 

medical report saying no injuries to the inmate, yaddy, yadda, 

so unless the inmate raises a complaint about it, it’s 

considered a daily routine.  

MICHELLE ALANIS: So, if I’m understanding you 

correctly, this incident occurs October 9th.  You may have 

reviewed in NOTIS the incident report, whether later that day— 

WARDEN ADAMS:  Probably the next day. 

MICHELLE ALANIS: --the next day. 

WARDEN ADAMS:  Probably the next day.  

Everybody has all day to get their reports in.  When I come in 

the following day is when I’ll start reviewing what went on 

yesterday.  

MICHELLE ALANIS: And, when you’re reviewing those 

reports and the medical summary on the inmate, that may not 

necessarily lead you to review the video at that time.  

WARDEN ADAMS:  Yeah.  If it shows no injury.  
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MICHELLE ALANIS: Okay.  Another way that you may 

be prompted to review the video is through the grievance 

process.  

WARDEN ADAMS:  Yeah, when they make a grievance 

or if I’m advised—like I say, if there’s injury—if there’s 

something more than a hands on use of force or there’s injury 

reported, then it’s an everyday occurrence until such time, 

it’s brought up hey, I have a complaint that this was done 

incorrectly.  Or, if a staff member comes in and goes, hey 

something happened and it was wrong, it shouldn’t have been 

done that way.   

MICHELLE ALANIS: Okay.  So, when you viewed this 

video of the incident, at that point, what did you do when you 

were done reviewing the video? 

WARDEN ADAMS:  When we reviewed the video, we 

were doing the reports at the same time and stuff.  When I 

looked at this video, I looked at the reports of staff 

involved.  The reports of staff involved said that, were 

talking to the inmate and they described the inmate as 

becoming aggressive.  Like, when I tried to apply restraints, 

he resisted.  I’m watching the video, restraints were never 

attempted to be applied until the guy was on the ground in the 

dirt.   

The reports didn’t match the video.  So, to me, it’s 

fishy, it’s not right.  In looking at the individuals 
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involved, what their reports state and what I see with my own 

eyes, I reported it to the IG because it doesn’t look right.  

I advised my warden at the time that this is what I saw and 

I’m submitting it for investigation.  She said, yes.  The 

grievance was sent back to Dreason at that time, to basically 

be put on hold until everything was sorted out, whether or not 

he would find—uphold his grievance or deny it.  

MICHELLE ALANIS: Okay.  And, when you say it 

didn’t look right and you wanted to send it to the 

Investigator-- 

WARDEN ADAMS:  Inspector’s General’s Officer.  

MICHELLE ALANIS: I don’t know why I want to call 

them Investigator General sometimes.  What was it specifically 

about the video that concerned you? 

DANIEL MARKS:  Asked and answered, he just said 

it.  

HEARING OFFICER: One more time.  

WARDEN ADAMS:  One more time is, you want from 

like start to finish, just watching it and seeing multiple 

individuals sitting on a wall for an extended period of time.  

One particular individual is sitting there for a very long 

time.  And then, when it came time to—they were dealing with 

him, it looked like they were talking to him.  Valdez was 

doing the talking and stuff.  Valdez was talking to him.  Sit 

and watch Officer Valdez in this video going like this.  He’s 
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agitated.  You can tell.  That’s body language.  It’s in your 

training.   

If an inmate does that stuff, I’m putting him on the 

wall, right away in handcuffs because he’s agitated.  He’s 

[inaudible] 

MICHELLE ALANIS: And, for the record, you’re 

moving both of your hands-- 

WARDEN ADAMS:  Both hands up and down.  

MICHELLE ALANIS: --forward and backward.  

WARDEN ADAMS:  Yeah, back and forth-- 

MICHELLE ALANIS: Swinging them.  

WARDEN ADAMS:  --like, clapping hands and stuff 

like that, okay.  You could tell by his body language, Valdez 

is agitated and frustrated.  There’s no audio on the culinary 

video, so you have to go by just what you can see.  Senior 

Navarrete is first line supervisor sitting there.  The way 

that I dealt with my Seniors and stuff, he should’ve told 

Valdez, you’re too agitated.  You have no business being in 

this vicinity.  Because apparently this guy has done something 

to really make you mad.   

So, for the betterment of everybody involved, staff 

safety, inmate safety.  Lawsuits, liabilities, whatever.  As 

the Senior Officer, let me handcuff this guy and take him to 

the Sergeant’s Office and let the Sergeant put him in a cool 
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down, deal with him, what have you.  As opposed to allow it to 

go—make its way through fruition and the whole thing.  

So, that was my—my major concern is, after the 

reading the reports, I watched the video again and they just 

don’t match.   

MICHELLE ALANIS: Okay.  You mentioned that the 

use of force happens often or it’s an everyday occurrence.  

WARDEN ADAMS:  It can be, yeah.  

MICHELLE ALANIS: So, I just want to make sure I 

understand because here we’re dealing with a situation of 

what’s been labeled as excessive force or unnecessary force.  

WARDEN ADAMS:  Yeah.   

DANIEL MARKS:  We’re denying it’s excessive 

force.  

WARDEN ADAMS:  Yeah, I would call it 

unnecessary force, not excessive, unnecessary.  Excessive 

because it’s on this— 

HEARING OFFICER: Right.  

MICHELLE ALANIS: I guess my question is, you’re 

saying use of force happens often.  Is what you viewed in that 

video something that happens often? 

WARDEN ADAMS:  No ma’am.  [pause]  An inmate 

being verbally abusive, I mean, that’s all the time.  It never 

fails.  It’s like being a law enforcement officer on the 

street.  You’re always getting some kind of argument or 
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complaint.  That doesn’t justify any type of use of force.  

Otherwise you would have people shot all day every day on the 

side of the road for getting pulled over.  

MICHELLE ALANIS: And, if I could have you turn to 

Exhibit N.  It starts at Page NDOC 351 to NDOC 365.  And, it 

says, Grievances on Staff Member.  Are you familiar with these 

printouts? 

DANIEL MARKS:  Your Honor, I’m going to object.  

This is what was done [inaudible] Friday.  This is not 

relevant at all.  These were all not sustained.  It was not 

part of the original case.  It wasn’t part of their case in 

terminating him.  They’re trying to—after they read our brief, 

then they wanted to bootstrap these additional exhibits and 

try to claim he had numerous grievances. 

I think the true evidence is in—officers get 

grievances frequently and if they’re not sustained, they 

don’t—they shouldn’t have any probative value.  

HEARING OFFICER: Is it, what’s your purpose in 

talking about these?  

MICHELLE ALANIS: This is a search on grievances 

on this particular officer.  I don’t—it’s relevant in the 

sense that it names and identifies this officer.  There’s some 

things that are referenced similar to what occurred in this 

situation.  Specifically, it includes the grievance on NDOC 

360, it includes— 
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HEARING OFFICER: This case?  

MICHELLE ALANIS: Yes, it includes this case.  

It’s Inmate Ricky Norales.  And you can see on the bottom box 

there, it says, Inmate states he was walking out of the dining 

hall when he was stopped by Officers, he says, Vasquez and you 

know, Nava—he has, obviously typos there, Naviette.   

HEARING OFFICER: What page are you on? 

MICHELLE ALANIS: I’m on NDOC 360. 

HEARING OFFICER: Right.  The other ones, I mean, 

have they been sustained or are they not sustained?  I think 

that’s important.  

MICHELLE ALANIS: I think it says in most of 

these, I believe some of them, if you look at the one right 

before 359, I believe this was also referred for 

investigation.  That was either the week before or the week 

after—I’m sorry, the month before, 9/15/16.  So, they’re not 

all sustained necessarily, it’s just a— 

DANIEL MARKS:  Your Honor, all of them were not 

sustained or accepted.  Here’s the problem.  They’re claiming 

it’s not a progressive discipline case, it’s O’Keefe, he did 

or didn’t file a—the rule.  They’re not claiming progressive 

discipline.  

So, first of all, none of these sustained.   

HEARING OFFICER: Yeah, I would have to say that 

they’re not—it’s not relevant to that.  It’s—given the 
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situation, given what’s being alleged here, it’s really not.  

This would cause me to have to go into 18 different mini-

hearings to see what he did, what he didn’t do.  And, we’d be 

here for three weeks.  So, I don’t see the relevance— 

MICHELLE ALANIS: Okay. 

HEARING OFFICER: --or the purpose of it.   

MICHELLE ALANIS: From your review of the video, 

Associate Warden Adams, did you note any physical threats or 

emergency situations happening with Inmate Norales and 

Officers on scene?  

DANIEL MARKS:  The document speaks for itself, 

unless there’s some more foundation on it than just the video 

with no sound.  We’ve all saw it.  

HEARING OFFICER: I’m sorry, I missed—I missed the 

question.  I’m sorry.  

MICHELLE ALANIS: I was saying if he— 

HEARING OFFICER: The heat is getting to me, I 

apologize.  

MICHELLE ALANIS: In his review of the video, the 

incident video, if he observed any physical threats or could 

he see any emergencies arising that would require the force 

that was applied.  

HEARING OFFICER: I’ll let him answer it.  

WARDEN ADAMS:  Yes?  

HEARING OFFICER: You can answer it.  
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WARDEN ADAMS:  Okay.  The inmate was against 

the wall, faced away from everybody.  So, he couldn’t have 

made a physical threat.   

MICHELLE ALANIS: I don’t need—nothing further at 

this time.  

HEARING OFFICER: Okay.  

DANIEL MARKS:  Warden, as I understand it, did 

you conduct any interviews yourself in this case?  

WARDEN ADAMS:  Not that I recall, no.  

DANIEL MARKS:  Did you do any investigation?  

WARDEN ADAMS:  No, [inaudible] Inspector 

General’s Office. 

DANIEL MARKS:  Okay. 

WARDEN ADAMS:  Other than me viewing the video 

and reviewing the report.  

DANIEL MARKS:  That’s what I’m trying to figure 

out.  So, you didn’t interview Jose Navarrete? 

WARDEN ADAMS:  No sir.  

DANIEL MARKS:  You didn’t interview Valdez.  

WARDEN ADAMS:  No sir.  

DANIEL MARKS:  You didn’t interview Ricky 

Norales. 

WARDEN ADAMS:  No sir.  

DANIEL MARKS:  You didn’t interview Wachter. 

WARDEN ADAMS:  No. 
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DANIEL MARKS:  You didn’t interview Knatz 

[phonetic], who I believe was the acting sergeant.  

WARDEN ADAMS:  Correct. 

DANIEL MARKS:  You didn’t interview Will, who 

was the Lieutenant.  

WARDEN ADAMS:  Correct. 

DANIEL MARKS:  Correct?  Is that right sir? 

WARDEN ADAMS:  That is correct.  

DANIEL MARKS:  You didn’t make the actual 

decision to terminate Mr. Valdez—Mr. Navarrete, correct?  

WARDEN ADAMS:  No, that was not me.  

DANIEL MARKS:  That was not you.  So, your 

total involvement in this case was, you reviewed two reports.  

One from Valdez and one from Navarrete.  

WARDEN ADAMS:  No sir. 

DANIEL MARKS:  And, watched the video.  

WARDEN ADAMS:  I reviewed every report—I 

reviewed every report on NOTIS. 

DANIEL MARKS:  So, you reviewed the NOTIS and 

watched the video. 

WARDEN ADAMS:  Yes.  

DANIEL MARKS:  And the video you watched had no 

audio. 

WARDEN ADAMS:  Correct. 
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DANIEL MARKS:  You never watched the video that 

was shot by acting sergeant Knatz, that actually had audio, 

correct? 

WARDEN ADAMS:  Yeah, I did, yes.  

DANIEL MARKS:  Prior to turning it over to the 

IG? 

WARDEN ADAMS:  Probably not.  

DANIEL MARKS:  So, you turned it over to the IG 

based on the NOTIS reports and the video with no sound.  

WARDEN ADAMS:  Absolutely.  

DANIEL MARKS:  Okay.  Now, I believe the 

records indicate you turned the matter—the incident happened 

on October 9th.  You referred to the IG on October 12th, 

approximately three days later.  

WARDEN ADAMS:  Okay. 

DANIEL MARKS:  And that’s before—if you go to 

NDOC 360— 

MICHELLE ALANIS: I thought we just determined 

that we’re not using— 

DANIEL MARKS:  Okay, fine.  I just wanted to 

establish— 

HEARING OFFICER: If anything is relevant, it’s 

the one for the incident, if you want to talk about the one 

for the incident.  
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DANIEL MARKS:  I just want to establish the 

day. 

HEARING OFFICER: That’s different, so I’m sorry.  

MICHELLE ALANIS: Is it getting admitted or we’re 

just— 

DANIEL MARKS:  I just want to ask him about the 

day.  

HEARING OFFICER: He can refer to it, for a 

question if he wants to for that— 

DANIEL MARKS:  The date of that grievance is 

10/13, so you had already turned it over to the IG, prior to 

the grievance.  

WARDEN ADAMS:  Okay.  

DANIEL MARKS:  Isn’t that true? 

WARDEN ADAMS:  By these dates, yes.  

DANIEL MARKS:  Is that your recollection? 

WARDEN ADAMS:  No, it’s not my recollection 

from three years ago, no.  

DANIEL MARKS:  From what? 

WARDEN ADAMS:  Almost three years ago, no.  

DANIEL MARKS:  Okay.   

WARDEN ADAMS:  I can tell you that this guy was 

at High Desert when he filed his grievance.  Meaning 

everything [inaudible] mail back and forth.  So, I may have 
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been called by one of the Associate Wardens up there, saying 

this guy’s [crosstalk] can you look into it? 

DANIEL MARKS:  Wasn’t this at Southern Desert?  

WARDEN ADAMS:  The incident was at Southern 

Desert.  The inmate [inaudible]  

DANIEL MARKS:  So, you think the inmate who 

filed the grievance was at High Desert?  

WARDEN ADAMS:  I know he was.  

DANIEL MARKS:  And that was on—he filed his 

grievance on 10/13/2016.  

WARDEN ADAMS:  [crosstalk] official response on 

11/14, it was mailed to High Desert State Prison, that’s where 

the inmate was.  After the incident, the inmate probably 

moved.   

DANIEL MARKS:  Okay.  Now, you’re aware—I 

thought you said earlier in reference to opposing counsel that 

you referred the matter for investigation to the Officer 

Inspector General, because of the inmate grievance.  

WARDEN ADAMS:  Uh huh, because of the inmate 

grievance.  

DANIEL MARKS:  But the records indicate, if you 

go to Exhibit A, Page 81— 

HEARING OFFICER: Oh, the air came on, that’s 

good.  

MICHELLE ALANIS: Huh?  
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DANIEL MARKS:  Yeah, the air is kicking on.  

HEARING OFFICER: The air came on.   

DANIEL MARKS:  At the bottom of the page where 

it says, Investigation— 

WARDEN ADAMS:  Can I get to 81 first?  

DANIEL MARKS:  Sure.   

WARDEN ADAMS:  [pause]   

DANIEL MARKS:  Towards the bottom of the page.  

WARDEN ADAMS:  76, 77.  [pause]  All right.  

DANIEL MARKS:  On the bottom of the page, it 

says on or about October 12, 2016, Supervisor Criminal 

Investigator, David Mulnar was assigned to investigate 

allegations of excessive use of force.  Mulnar reviewed the 

video footage provided by Adams, that’s you, correct?  

WARDEN ADAMS:  Yeah. 

DANIEL MARKS:  All right.  Now, let’s talk 

about the handcuffing.  I’m not going to ask you about that.  

You can put that down if you want.  

WARDEN ADAMS:  Put it down?  

DANIEL MARKS:  Thank you.  Okay.  There are 

rules and regulations as to when a corrections officer can 

handcuff an inmate, correct? 

WARDEN ADAMS:  Yes. 

DANIEL MARKS:  And, use of a handcuff, that’s 

not normally considered use of force, correct?  
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WARDEN ADAMS:  Very fine gray line.  It’s hands 

on.  Once you touch an inmate, technically, when you’ve 

touched an inmate, you’ve used forced.   

DANIEL MARKS:  Okay, but-- 

WARDEN ADAMS:  But no, it’s not considered a 

use of force.  

DANIEL MARKS:  Right, it’s not considered a use 

of force in the use of force [inaudible], correct? 

WARDEN ADAMS:  Correct.  

DANIEL MARKS:  And the corrections officers 

have discretion on when they can cuff up an inmate, correct?  

WARDEN ADAMS:  No.  For the—for the safety of 

staff or the safety of the inmate, [inaudible] not and it’s 

stated directly in the OP, that they’re not to be used as-- 

DANIEL MARKS:  Punishment.  

WARDEN ADAMS:  --punishment.  

DANIEL MARKS:  Okay.  But, if an inmate’s on 

the wall, if an inmate is given commands and is non-compliant 

to those commands, he typically happens because of staffing 

and other reasons that the corrections officer would say, I’m 

going to cuff you up and take you to the shift commander and 

let him do the timeout or the counseling, correct?  

WARDEN ADAMS:  Yeah. 

DANIEL MARKS:  And that’s a virtual everyday 

occurrence, correct? 
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WARDEN ADAMS:  Yeah.  

DANIEL MARKS:  If the—right?  

WARDEN ADAMS:  Yes, quite often.  

DANIEL MARKS:  Okay.  And, if an inmate is 

being non-compliant on the wall, meaning doesn’t have his 

hands in the proper position, takes his hands off the wall, 

turns, is not still, the corrections officer will tell him, 

stop, put your hands on the wall, correct?  

WARDEN ADAMS:  Yes.  

DANIEL MARKS:  He will say, if you take your 

hands off the wall I’m going to take that as an act of 

aggression, correct? 

WARDEN ADAMS:  Depending on the correctional 

officer, yeah.  

DANIEL MARKS:  And he may tell the inmate, I’m 

going to cuff you up.  

WARDEN ADAMS:  Yes.  

DANIEL MARKS:  Okay.  And at that point, the 

inmate is supposed to have his hands high on the wall and the 

correct—and there’s a procedure where the corrections officer 

would cuff up the inmate, correct? 

WARDEN ADAMS:  Correct. 

DANIEL MARKS:  All right.  And then bring them 

to the operational sergeant.  

WARDEN ADAMS:  Yes. 
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DANIEL MARKS:  Okay.  And that happens-- 

WARDEN ADAMS:  Often.  

DANIEL MARKS:  It could happen very often.  

WARDEN ADAMS:  Uh huh.  

DANIEL MARKS:  At Southern Desert in 2016, 

correct?  

WARDEN ADAMS:  Yes.  

DANIEL MARKS:  If the inmate then refuses to 

comply with the cuffing, fights the cuffing or tenses up and 

doesn’t put his arms in the proper place, there could be a 

spontaneous use of force at that point, correct?  

WARDEN ADAMS:  Yes, if he resists physical 

cuffing, yes. 

DANIEL MARKS:  And, by resisting that can be, 

if the inmate’s on the wall, turning his shoulder, correct?  

Back against the corrections officer.  

WARDEN ADAMS:  No, if his—if his back is to 

you, he cannot pose you a physical threat.  

DANIEL MARKS:  If the inmate turns-- 

WARDEN ADAMS:  If an inmate turns more than 

halfway around, then he may be able to take an aggressive 

stance motion.  

DANIEL MARKS:  If the inmate turns and makes a 

movement, a furtive movement, the correction officer can take 

defense action to take the inmate to the ground, correct?  
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WARDEN ADAMS:  To the level to meet the 

inmate’s—the inmate’s resistant and use.  

DANIEL MARKS:  Right, force has to always be 

proportioned, correct? 

WARDEN ADAMS:  Correct. 

DANIEL MARKS:  So, in this case, you obviously 

couldn’t kick the inmate in the face.  

WARDEN ADAMS:  Correct. 

DANIEL MARKS:  You couldn’t take the inmate and 

slam him against the wall, correct? 

WARDEN ADAMS:  Correct. 

DANIEL MARKS:  You couldn’t punch him in the 

face.  

WARDEN ADAMS:  Correct. 

DANIEL MARKS:  But in order—if you are trying 

to cuff somebody and you believe they’re resisting, you’re the 

only one there that knows if they’re resisting, you can use 

minimal force to take them down and cuff them.  Is that 

correct?  

WARDEN ADAMS:  You would push him against the 

wall and bring his hands behind his back.  

DANIEL MARKS:  And, if he resisted, turned and 

resisted, you could take him to the ground and cuff him, 

correct? 

WARDEN ADAMS:  Correct.  Yes.  
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DANIEL MARKS:  And that would be legitimate 

force, as long as you didn’t kick him in the face, or hit him 

in the face or taser him-- 

WARDEN ADAMS:  It would be legitimate force if 

it was within the use of force guidelines.   

DANIEL MARKS:  But that’s the minimal force, 

hands on, correct? 

WARDEN ADAMS:  Yes.  

DANIEL MARKS:  Now, you reviewed the video, no 

one kicked this inmate, correct?  

WARDEN ADAMS:  No. 

DANIEL MARKS:  No one hit this inmate in the 

face, correct? 

WARDEN ADAMS:  Not that I saw, no. 

DANIEL MARKS:  No one taser this inmate, 

correct? 

WARDEN ADAMS:  No sir.  

DANIEL MARKS:  And in fact, Officer Norales—

Officer Navarrete never put his hands on the inmate at all, 

other than to aid Valdez in the cuffing, correct?  

WARDEN ADAMS:  Correct. 

DANIEL MARKS:  So, he used no force at all in 

this incident, correct, Officer Navarrete, correct?  

WARDEN ADAMS:  Yeah, well—[crosstalk]  

DANIEL MARKS:  There was no force, correct?   
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WARDEN ADAMS:  There was force in the fact that 

he helped him restrain him, but nothing major.  

DANIEL MARKS:  Well, if you watch the video, he 

was on the floor.  He was on the ground.  He came to his aid 

but I believe the evidence will be that Valdez did the 

cuffing.  

WARDEN ADAMS:  Correct.  

DANIEL MARKS:  And Officer Navarrete called for 

back-up, correct?  Isn’t that correct?  

WARDEN ADAMS:  Yes.  

DANIEL MARKS:  Okay.  You had no idea what 

Norales was saying to the officers, correct? 

WARDEN ADAMS:  No. 

DANIEL MARKS:  Part of the officer’s job is to 

counsel inmates, correct?  

WARDEN ADAMS:  Yes.  

DANIEL MARKS:  And to get them to become 

compliant, correct? 

WARDEN ADAMS:  Correct.  

DANIEL MARKS:  Because in the yard on that day, 

what did you have, 200-300 inmates?  

WARDEN ADAMS:  At that particular point in 

time?  

DANIEL MARKS:  Yeah. 
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WARDEN ADAMS:  Yeah, I’d say probably about 

200. 

DANIEL MARKS:  And, how many guards were there, 

about three?  

WARDEN ADAMS:  You’re talking about physically 

in the culinary? 

DANIEL MARKS:  Yeah.  Well, physically in the 

yard.  

WARDEN ADAMS:  Physically in the yard?  Two on 

the roof with weapons.  Less than 50 yards away.  [pause]  The 

only ones I saw on the video were three.  

DANIEL MARKS:  So, you have five inmates [sic]—

so, you have three inmates [sic] without weapons in the yard.  

WARDEN ADAMS:  Three officers, thank you.   

DANIEL MARKS:  Three officers, two on the roof 

with weapons that I assume you only want to use as a last 

resort, right? 

WARDEN ADAMS:  Yes.  

DANIEL MARKS:  So, there are three that have to 

use verbal and whatever skills they have to try to calm down-- 

WARDEN ADAMS:  Verbal [crosstalk]  

DANIEL MARKS:  Excuse me.   

WARDEN ADAMS:  Verbal, physical or chemical 

agents.  
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DANIEL MARKS:  Right but try to use verbal 

first to keep everything calm among 300 inmates.  So, they’re 

outnumbered 100:1.   

WARDEN ADAMS:  Oh yes.  

DANIEL MARKS:  And, the officers are trained to 

try to counsel inmates to comply with the rules and 

regulations, correct? 

WARDEN ADAMS:  Yeah.  

DANIEL MARKS:  If someone steals food from the 

culinary, it doesn’t seem like a big deal to me, but I guess 

that’s a rule and regulation that, if they take food, it’s 

thrown out, correct?  

WARDEN ADAMS:  Yes.  

DANIEL MARKS:  And that’s [crosstalk]  

WARDEN ADAMS:  They throw it out.  It’s thrown 

out and they’re replaced with an uncontaminated lunch.  

DANIEL MARKS:  And then they can be written up 

because they’re violating a rule, correct?  

WARDEN ADAMS:  Correct. 

DANIEL MARKS:  And, inmates can trade food for 

weapons, drugs, etc., correct?  

WARDEN ADAMS:  Yes.  

DANIEL MARKS:  That’s kind of the—that’s the 

barter system, correct?  

WARDEN ADAMS:  Uh huh, yes.  
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DANIEL MARKS:  So, you’re training your 

correction officers to make the inmates follow the rules, 

correct?  

WARDEN ADAMS:  Yes.  

DANIEL MARKS:  It would be easy for the 

correction officers to just let these guys go, stealing food 

or not and not get into this kind of situation, correct?  

WARDEN ADAMS:  That is correct. 

DANIEL MARKS:  But they’re trained and their 

job is to try to convince hardened criminals to follow the 

prison rules, knowing they’re outnumbered 100:1.  Correct? 

WARDEN ADAMS:  That is correct.  

DANIEL MARKS:  So, it’s a tough job.  You’d 

agree.  

WARDEN ADAMS:  Oh yes.  

DANIEL MARKS:  All right.  Now, that day, you 

were short staffed, correct?  

WARDEN ADAMS:  More than likely.  

MICHELLE ALANIS: Objection, foundation.   

DANIEL MARKS:  And—because you had an acting 

sergeant, didn’t you?  You had a Senior Correction Officer 

[crosstalk]  

WARDEN ADAMS:  That doesn’t necessarily mean 

that we’re short staffed.  That might mean that we are short 
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of supervisors and one is in the process of hiring or any 

number of reasons [crosstalk]  

DANIEL MARKS:  Okay, but you had an acting 

sergeant.  

WARDEN ADAMS:  Okay.   

DANIEL MARKS:  [pause]  So, if you go to Page 

181, Exhibit D.  #2, is force will be proportionate to the 

threat exhibited, correct?  That’s on-- 

WARDEN ADAMS:  On the bottom, [crosstalk]  

DANIEL MARKS:  Yeah. 

WARDEN ADAMS:  Force will be proportionate to 

the threat given by the inmate, yes.  

DANIEL MARKS:  That’s correct.  A staff member 

may use force to protect himself or any other individual from 

his/her harm, correct?  

WARDEN ADAMS:  Yes.  

DANIEL MARKS:  If you witness use of force that 

you think is excessive or unnecessary, you’re required to 

immediately report the observation, correct?  

WARDEN ADAMS:  Yes.  

DANIEL MARKS:  Now, when the correction—that’s 

all I have on that right now.  The correction officers have to 

work as a team, correct?  

WARDEN ADAMS:  Yes. 
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DANIEL MARKS:  And therefore, correction 

officers should not be disagreeing in front of an inmate, 

correct?  

WARDEN ADAMS:  Disagreeing? 

DANIEL MARKS:  Yeah.  

WARDEN ADAMS:  Depending on how great the 

situation.  

DANIEL MARKS:  It would be rare for you to say 

that correction officers should disagree in front of the 

inmate, that empowers the inmate, correct?  

WARDEN ADAMS:  Oh yes.  Yes. 

DANIEL MARKS:  So, absent somebody taking out 

their taser and you disagreeing or taking a baseball bat and 

you disagreeing, it’s a team effort and if you have issues, 

you gotta deal with them later, correct?  

WARDEN ADAMS:  To an extent.  

DANIEL MARKS:  Because if you start fighting in 

front of the inmates, they’re going to take over the asylum, 

correct?  

WARDEN ADAMS:  You’re absolutely right.  

DANIEL MARKS:  Okay.  [pause]   

WARDEN ADAMS:  There is a difference between 

arguing and fighting and relaying a lawful order to step off.  

DANIEL MARKS:  I understand.  Now, if you go to 

Page 182, Exhibit D. 
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HEARING OFFICER: Exhibit? 

DANIEL MARKS:  D.  D as in dog, same Exhibit. 

HEARING OFFICER: I got it.  

DANIEL MARKS:  This is the Use of Force policy.  

HEARING OFFICER: Right, I have it.  

DANIEL MARKS:  It’s bate stamp 182 at the 

bottom.  It’s 405.03, Paragraph 5.  You would agree, to compel 

an inmate’s compliance with orders, force may be used if no 

alternative method of persuasion is effective or whenever 

circumstances require urgency, correct?  

WARDEN ADAMS:  Correct.  

DANIEL MARKS:  And if you’re going to take an 

inmate to the Sergeant, for what do you call it?  A time out?  

Counseling?  What do you call it?  

WARDEN ADAMS:  Counseling from the Sergeant.  

DANIEL MARKS:  Counseling from the Sergeant, 

sort of kicking it upstairs, you’ve got to put the inmate in 

handcuffs, generally, that’s the policy, correct? 

WARDEN ADAMS:  Depending on why he’s going to 

the Sergeant yes.  

DANIEL MARKS:  If he’s going for being non-

compliant-- 

WARDEN ADAMS:  Yes.  

DANIEL MARKS:  You cuff him up.  

WARDEN ADAMS:  Yes.  
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DANIEL MARKS:  That’s the term, right?  

WARDEN ADAMS:  Yes.  

DANIEL MARKS:  Okay.  [pause]  You would—before 

you cuffed up an inmate, you normally would try to talk or 

counsel that inmate, to get them to become compliant, correct? 

WARDEN ADAMS:  Yes.  

DANIEL MARKS:  Because going to the Sergeant 

takes time and takes you off the yard, correct?  

WARDEN ADAMS:  Correct. 

DANIEL MARKS:  So, correction officers know 

it’s to their interest, for security and safety, as well as 

the inmate, to try and talk the inmate, sort of off the ledge, 

get him to be compliant, rather than have to cuff him up and 

bring him to the Sergeant, take two officers out of the yard, 

that could create other security problems, correct? 

WARDEN ADAMS:  Correct. 

DANIEL MARKS:  So, you would normally talk the 

inmate down, as long as you could until the non-compliance was 

so strong you felt you had to cuff him and bring him to the 

Sergeant, correct?   

WARDEN ADAMS:  [crosstalk]  

DANIEL MARKS:  And, there’s no time limit.  

That’s got to be a judgment call by the officer, correct?  

WARDEN ADAMS:  It’s a judgment call, the 

officer—for the officer, yes.  
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DANIEL MARKS:  Right.  Some officers got more 

of a hair trigger and it’s boom, we’re going to cuff him up 

and take him, correct?  

WARDEN ADAMS:  Uh huh. 

DANIEL MARKS:  Right? 

WARDEN ADAMS:  Yes. 

DANIEL MARKS:  And other officers are going to 

do the more Freudian, let’s talk it out, try to talk them off 

the ledge, so to speak and cuff them as a last resort, isn’t 

that true? 

WARDEN ADAMS:  Yeah. 

DANIEL MARKS:  All right.  And, if you go to, 

the same Exhibit D, Page 179.  It indicates passive compliance 

measures, technique strategies used by staff to gain 

compliance control of an inmate without forcible, physical 

contact.  That’s the counseling, correct?  

WARDEN ADAMS:  Where are you at? 

DANIEL MARKS:  Bottom of Page 179. 

WARDEN ADAMS:  [inaudible] techniques 

strategies, yes.  

DANIEL MARKS:  And then on Page 180, counsel 

asked you about spontaneous—in these staff conditions, there’s 

spontaneous versus planned, correct?  

WARDEN ADAMS:  Yes.  
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DANIEL MARKS:  So, there’s really only two 

types as—as correction officers use spontaneous, all that 

means is, it’s not a planned use of force.  

WARDEN ADAMS:  Correct.  

MICHELLE ALANIS: Objection, misstates the— 

DANIEL MARKS:  Your Honor, that’s exactly what 

it was.  

MICHELLE ALANIS: No, there’s actually another one 

on there that says, use of force, right underneath 

spontaneous.   

HEARING OFFICER: It is cross.  What was the 

question, I think he already answered it.  

DANIEL MARKS:  Yeah, he answered it.   

HEARING OFFICER: Clarify? 

DANIEL MARKS:  So, let me just ask you, your 

only involvement in this incident at all was what you’ve 

already testified to in turning to the IG? 

WARDEN ADAMS:  Yes. 

DANIEL MARKS:  And the IG’s up in Carson, is 

that right?  

WARDEN ADAMS:  No, ever since Dave Mulnar, 

[crosstalk]  

DANIEL MARKS:  Oh, out here.  Okay.  I’ll pass 

the witness.  
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MICHELLE ALANIS: Associate Warden Adams, going 

back to looking at NDOC 180, you were just asked about the 

different types of use of force.  You were presented with 

either planned or spontaneous.  If we look at AR 405, it looks 

like there’s three definitions of use of force.  

At the very top, planned use of force, midway down 

spontaneous and then right below that, use of force.  Would 

you agree with that?  

WARDEN ADAMS:  Yes.  

MICHELLE ALANIS: Okay.  And so, can you maybe 

explain for us the use of force talks about what we’ve been 

kind of going through, progressive levels of force to gain an 

inmate’s control.  

WARDEN ADAMS:  Correct. 

MICHELLE ALANIS: Which calls for the specific 

situation, right?  

WARDEN ADAMS:  Correct.  It applies to planned 

and unplanned, spontaneous.  

MICHELLE ALANIS: Okay.  And the spontaneous use 

of force specifically says, actions that staff may immediately 

take in response to an emergency situation.  

WARDEN ADAMS:  Correct. 

MICHELLE ALANIS: And I think I had asked you this 

earlier, when you reviewed that video of the incident, did you 

observe an emergency situation?  
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DANIEL MARKS:  Your Honor, it’s been asked and 

answered.  

WARDEN ADAMS:  Nothing that I would— 

DANIEL MARKS:  My question went to something 

totally different.  

HEARING OFFICER: I think it touches upon your 

question and so, I think she can clarify it.  

WARDEN ADAMS:  In what I observed, the inmate 

posed no immediate threat to staff or himself.  He didn’t turn 

around far enough to become an aggressive, combative stance.  

MICHELLE ALANIS: Okay.  And, earlier you were 

asked about, you couldn’t kick the inmate, you couldn’t punch 

him in the face.  Could you push the inmate into the wall, 

with both hands like this?  

WARDEN ADAMS:  No, you shouldn’t.  You should 

never need more than one hand.  That’s why he’s against the 

wall, it put him at a disadvantage.  

MICHELLE ALANIS: And you can’t choke hold an 

inmate, right? 

WARDEN ADAMS:  No ma’am.  

MICHELLE ALANIS: And, in choke holding him, you 

can’t pull him back into the ground.  

WARDEN ADAMS:  Correct.  

00539
JA 0808



   

 

257 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

 

MICHELLE ALANIS: Earlier you were asked if 

Navarrete had used any force on Inmate Norales and you said he 

did not, right? 

WARDEN ADAMS:  Not that I observed, no.  

MICHELLE ALANIS: Okay.   

WARDEN ADAMS:  Aside from applying body 

pressure to hold him down.  

MICHELLE ALANIS: Once he was already on the 

ground. 

WARDEN ADAMS:  Correct.  

MICHELLE ALANIS: In your opinion, as the 

Associate Warden of Operations, did Senior Officer Navarrete 

permit unnecessary force to occur?  

WARDEN ADAMS:  Yes.  

MICHELLE ALANIS: And, by permitting unnecessary 

for, or excessive force, is Senior Officer Navarrete following 

the rules?  

WARDEN ADAMS:  No ma’am.  

MICHELLE ALANIS: And, by permitting that, as the 

Senior Officer, is he violating NDOC policies? 

WARDEN ADAMS:  Yes ma’am.  

MICHELLE ALANIS: And then by submitting a NOTIS 

report that identifies or I’m sorry, describes the situation—I 

don’t want to misquote it here.  That Inmate Norales came off 

the culinary wall while CO Valdez was attempting to retrain 
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him resulting in a spontaneous use of force.  That wasn’t an 

accurate reporting, in your opinion.  

WARDEN ADAMS:  In my opinion, between that 

report and the video, no.  

MICHELLE ALANIS: And by submitting this report 

that doesn’t appear to accurately state what occurred that 

day, that’s not following the rules, right?   

WARDEN ADAMS:  No ma’am.  

MICHELLE ALANIS: And, when officers are 

submitting incident reports in NOTIS, are they required to 

include as much detail as possible  

WARDEN ADAMS:  Yes ma’am.  

MICHELLE ALANIS: And, is that particularly true 

when there is use of force?  

WARDEN ADAMS:  Absolutely.   

MICHELLE ALANIS: And so, at this point, when he 

just says, he came off the culinary wall while he was 

attempting to restrain him, is there any reference about 

anything that occurred in the 11 minutes prior to that 

incident occurring? 

WARDEN ADAMS:  No ma’am.  

MICHELLE ALANIS: [pause]  I believe you were 

asked if you reviewed the video of the inmate when he’s being 

taken to the infirmary, right?  

WARDEN ADAMS:  Yes.  
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MICHELLE ALANIS: And you said you did review that 

video? 

WARDEN ADAMS:  Not prior to referring him. 

MICHELLE ALANIS: Okay, but at some point you 

reviewed that video.  

WARDEN ADAMS:  Yes.  

MICHELLE ALANIS: And, there’s been testimony and 

we’ve seen portions of the video where once the medical cart 

comes up, the inmate says, I have a concussion.  He goes on to 

state that, you know, this force was inappropriate.  

WARDEN ADAMS:  Yes, I’m aware of that, where he 

said they kicked him in the face and everything else, yeah. 

MICHELLE ALANIS: And then there’s a point when 

the inmate laughs and says something about, played, being 

played or playing.  

WARDEN ADAMS:  Yes.  

MICHELLE ALANIS: Okay.  Do you remember hearing 

that on the video? 

WARDEN ADAMS:  Yes.  

MICHELLE ALANIS: Okay.  And if you need to, we 

can play it but, does that—since you said you saw that video 

after you referred it to the IG’s Office, would that have 

changed anything? 

DANIEL MARKS:  It’s kind of irrelevant.  

WARDEN ADAMS:  No.  
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DANIEL MARKS:  Because he didn’t do a full 

complete investigation.  He turned it over to the IG, that was 

the end of it.  He didn’t make the termination decision.  He 

didn’t interview the witnesses.  He didn’t review the videos 

for any substance.   

MICHELLE ALANIS: He didn’t make a— 

HEARING OFFICER: I hear you, but for what it’s 

worth.  

MICHELLE ALANIS: I mean, he’s the one that 

essentially sent this to investigation— 

DANIEL MARKS:  Right.  

MICHELLE ALANIS: --because he observed 

wrongdoing.   

DANIEL MARKS:  But then I asked him, did you do 

anything after that regarding this case and he said, no.  

HEARING OFFICER: That’s correct.  I understand 

that.  He’s been kind of going beyond his role in the case in 

all his testimony today.  So, I’m going to allow it.   

MICHELLE ALANIS: In your experience as the AW of 

Operations, inmates will sometimes get officers to react, 

right? 

WARDEN ADAMS:  Oh, absolutely.  

MICHELLE ALANIS: And react inappropriately.   

WARDEN ADAMS:  Absolutely. 
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MICHELLE ALANIS: And they want inmate—sorry, not 

inmates, they want officers to allow force to—unnecessary 

force to occur, right?  

WARDEN ADAMS:  Absolutely.  

MICHELLE ALANIS: And, because they know the 

second that an officer puts hands on them, they can go—turn 

around and file a lawsuit, right? 

WARDEN ADAMS:  Correct. 

MICHELLE ALANIS: And expose the prison to 

liability.  

WARDEN ADAMS:  Correct.  

MICHELLE ALANIS: And get some sort of monetary 

amount possibly from it, right?  

WARDEN ADAMS:  Yes ma’am.  

MICHELLE ALANIS: And that’s why the officers are 

trained not to put hands on the inmates where not necessary, 

right?  

WARDEN ADAMS:  Exactly.  Verbal abuse is 

irrelevant.  It’s doesn’t amount to anything.  

MICHELLE ALANIS: So, an inmate chuckling after 

the fact or talking about how he’s going to get his kid 

through college.  

WARDEN ADAMS:  Is normal.  

MICHELLE ALANIS: It’s not a surprise, right? 

WARDEN ADAMS:  No ma’am.  
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MICHELLE ALANIS: I don’t have anything further at 

this time.  

DANIEL MARKS:  I do.  When an inmate is saying, 

I played your officers, you should train them better, is 

something you should at least investigate, correct?  

WARDEN ADAMS:  Yes.  

DANIEL MARKS:  And, I think we established 

before, if an inmate is not following orders and a correction 

officer makes a decision to cuff someone up and they approach 

and put the hand on the shoulder, you don’t have to wait until 

the inmate turns face-to-face with them, correct?  There’s a 

period where if the inmate resists and whether it’s three-

quarters, a quarter, you don’t have wait until their face-to-

face like we are before you take them down.  

WARDEN ADAMS:  You don’t have to wait until 

their face-to-face but you have to wait until you’re 

physically in danger.  

DANIEL MARKS:  Until you believe there’s 

resistance.  

WARDEN ADAMS:  Until you—then you have to take 

the lowest amount of stuff you can to control it.  

DANIEL MARKS:  Right, but it’s when you as the 

officer believe there’s a resistance.  

WARDEN ADAMS:  Correct. 
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DANIEL MARKS:  And then you can take him down 

as long as you don’t beat him, hit him, you take the least 

aggressive amount of force, which is just taking someone down 

and cuffing them up, correct?  

WARDEN ADAMS:  No.  The least amount of force 

would be to lay your shoulder into his shoulders and push him 

against the wall and cuff him.  Not [crosstalk]  

DANIEL MARKS:  And if he resists—if he resists-

- 

WARDEN ADAMS:  Then-- 

DANIEL MARKS:  --you have to take him to the 

ground.  

WARDEN ADAMS:  --you would have to take him to 

the ground to get control.   

DANIEL MARKS:  And, use of force is judged—has 

to be judged by a standard of the officer in the field, not 

the comfort of a courtroom-- 

WARDEN ADAMS:  Correct.  

DANIEL MARKS:  --like we are now, on split 

seconds, correct? 

WARDEN ADAMS:  Absolutely.   

DANIEL MARKS:  What we’re doing now is really 

totally not what you’re supposed to be doing in judging an 

officer because they have to make a split second decision, in 

the field outnumbered 100:1.  
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WARDEN ADAMS:  That is correct. 

DANIEL MARKS:  And we have the luxury of 

sitting here and running it in microseconds drinking coffee 

knowing we’re secure, correct?  

WARDEN ADAMS:  That’s what we did but for the 

first 25 years of my career, I made those split second 

decisions.   

DANIEL MARKS:  Isn’t that correct?  And the US 

Supreme Court has even said that. 

WARDEN ADAMS:  That’s right.  

DANIEL MARKS:  Okay.  Thank you.  Can we have a 

break at some point.   

MICHELLE ALANIS: I just have one question.  

HEARING OFFICER: Well, I want to finish this 

witness and then— 

DANIEL MARKS:  Oh, sure.  Oh, there’s more?  

MICHELLE ALANIS: Just one follow-up. 

DANIEL MARKS:  Okay.   

MICHELLE ALANIS: Associate Warden Adams, when you 

reviewed the video, did you see any attempt at trying to 

restrain this inmate?  

WARDEN ADAMS:  Not until he was on the ground.  

DANIEL MARKS:  Asked and answered.  

MICHELLE ALANIS: Okay.  [pause]  I’m done.  

HEARING OFFICER: All right.   
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MICHELLE ALANIS: I actually stuck to it.   

HEARING OFFICER: Thank you for your testimony 

today.  Appreciate it.   

WARDEN ADAMS:  Yeah.  

HEARING OFFICER: All right.  Well— 

DANIEL MARKS:  Can we take five?  Can we take a 

five minute break? 

MICHELLE ALANIS: Yes, you’re free to go.  

HEARING OFFICER: Yeah, absolutely.   

DANIEL MARKS:  Who is the next witness?  

HEARING OFFICER: Yeah.  How many more do you 

have?  

MICHELLE ALANIS: I have two.  Let me just—if I 

can confer to determine how we want to do this in light of— 

HEARING OFFICER: I’m probably going to find out 

because we’re going to probably need another day, right?   

DANIEL MARKS:  Yeah.  

HEARING OFFICER: It looks inevitable to me.  They 

take you—they kick me out at 5:00.  I mean, I don’t have an 

option to stay.  

DANIEL MARKS:  Should I let our witnesses go 

then? 

HEARING OFFICER: Well, I don’t know.  I don’t 

know how long she’s got.  

MICHELLE ALANIS: I have at least two.  So— 
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HEARING OFFICER: We could squeeze somebody in, 

it’d be great.  If we can’t you can’t.  So, I’d prefer to get 

as many done as we can. 

MICHELLE ALANIS: I would think—[crosstalk]  

HEARING OFFICER: Especially if they’re under 

subpoena.  I’d hate to inconvenience everybody.  Let’s see 

what we can do.   

NICOLE YOUNG:  How long do you think your last 

witnesses are going to take? 

MICHELLE ALANIS: The PDH officer should be fairly 

quick.  I don’t think he would be on there more than a half-

hour.   

HEARING OFFICER: Let me go off the record.  I’m 

sorry.  All right, let me— 

MICHELLE ALANIS: And then we have Morgan Howell 

to go through the charges and the termination.  

HEARING OFFICER: So, that’s going to be a bit 

right?  I’m not criticizing, I’m just asking.  [laughs]  I’m 

not.  

DANIEL MARKS:  So, that’s going to take us to 

virtually 5:00.  We have four other officers out there, I 

don’t know if we should just tell them it’s going to be 

rescheduled or just let them wait until 5:00. 

MICHELLE ALANIS: If there’s time to start, I 

don’t know if you want to start with— 
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DANIEL MARKS:  No, I don’t.  

HEARING OFFICER: Whatever you prefer to do.  You 

guys—you’re going to excuse them probably? 

DANIEL MARKS:  I don’t know what I do, just 

tell them, we’ll get a new date, or do you want to get us a 

new date when we come back from the break? 

HEARING OFFICER: Well, let me see if I can get 

one because it’s not that easy to get a date.  

MICHELLE ALANIS: No.  

DANIEL MARKS:  Okay.  I’ll tell them to just 

wait.  

MICHELLE ALANIS: They might give you a few.  

HEARING OFFICER: My calendar is not exactly open 

either.  Let me see.  What am I doing?  There we go, let’s go 

off the record.  

OFF THE RECORD 

ON THE RECORD 

HEARING OFFICER: We’re back on the record now in 

the Navarrete, I call him Navarrete, I’m sorry, versus 

Department of Corrections.  We’re back on and the Department 

of Correction is going to call the next witness? 

MICHELLE ALANIS: Yes.  

HEARING OFFICER: And, it’s a telephonic witness?  

MICHELLE ALANIS: Yes, it’s Warden—now Warden 

Perry Russell. 
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HEARING OFFICER: All right.  

MICHELLE ALANIS: And— 

HEARING OFFICER: Let’s see how we can do.  

MICHELLE ALANIS: If it’s okay, I’m going to— 

HEARING OFFICER: This usually works pretty good, 

but we’ll see.  

MICHELLE ALANIS: If no one objects, I’m just 

going to move up over here.   

HEARING OFFICER: Do you have the number?   

MICHELLE ALANIS: Yes.   

HEARING OFFICER: [dials phone, rings]   

WARDEN RUSSELL: Warden Russell.  

MICHELLE ALANIS: Hi Warden Russell, this is 

Deputy Attorney General, Michell Alanis.  

WARDEN RUSSELL: Hi. 

MICHELLE ALANIS: We have you on speakerphone at 

the Navarrete hearing.  

WARDEN RUSSELL: Okay.  

HEARING OFFICER: Good afternoon sir.  I’m Hearing 

Officer Mark Gentile.  And, could you—it’s kind of odd, but 

can you raise your right hand for us?  

WARDEN RUSSELL: Got it.  

HEARING OFFICER: All right.  Do you solemnly 

swear that the testimony you’re about to give in this 
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proceeding will be the truth, the whole truth and nothing but 

the truth? 

WARDEN RUSSELL: Yes. 

HEARING OFFICER: Very good.  The Deputy AG is 

going to ask you some questions and then Mr. Marks will have 

some cross for you. 

WARDEN RUSSELL: All right.  

MICHELLE ALANIS: Warden Russell, can you— 

HEARING OFFICER: State your full name.  

MICHELLE ALANIS: --state your full name for the 

record please?  

WARDEN RUSSELL: Yes, it’s Perry Arnold Russell.  

MICHELLE ALANIS: And, where are you employed? 

WARDEN RUSSELL: Currently, I’m employed at Warm 

Springs Correctional Center in Carson City. 

MICHELLE ALANIS: And, that’s a part of the Nevada 

Department of Corrections, correct?  

WARDEN RUSSELL: It is.  

MICHELLE ALANIS: And, what’s your position there?  

WARDEN RUSSELL: I am the Warden. 

MICHELLE ALANIS: How long have you been the 

Warden of Warms Springs Correctional Center?  

WARDEN RUSSELL: About a year and a half. 

MICHELLE ALANIS: What was the position you held 

prior? 
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WARDEN RUSSELL: I was Associate Warden at High 

Desert State Prison.  

MICHELLE ALANIS: How long have you been with—how 

long have you been employed with NDOC? 

WARDEN RUSSELL: Since January 2007. 

MICHELLE ALANIS: As the Associate Warden at High 

Desert State Prison, were there times you had to serve as a 

Pre-Disciplinary Hearing Officer?  

WARDEN RUSSELL: Yes.  

MICHELLE ALANIS: Okay.  And, is that something 

you still do today, as a Warden? 

WARDEN RUSSELL: It is.  

MICHELLE ALANIS: About how many times have you 

served as a Pre-Disciplinary Hearing Officer?  

WARDEN RUSSELL: Approximately six.  It could be 

a little more but for sure six.  

MICHELLE ALANIS: How do you generally get 

assigned in that role? 

WARDEN RUSSELL: Normally, if the incident that 

occurred is of a higher level, I will get a call because they 

want somebody that’s not biased.  Most of the time, Southern 

Desert will go to High Desert.  High Desert will go to 

Southern Desert.  Up here and NCC will call to have someone do 

their pre-disciplinary hearing.  
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MICHELLE ALANIS: Okay.  So, as the Pre-

Disciplinary Hearing Officer, you’re normally reviewing 

incidents that did not occur at the institution you’re 

currently located at.  

WARDEN RUSSELL: Correct.  Lower level ones, 

sometimes we will, but higher level ones, normally it’s get 

them to a different institution.  

MICHELLE ALANIS: What do you mean “higher level”? 

WARDEN RUSSELL: Where it may involve a 

termination or it seems egregious enough to do a long 

suspension or where there’s also nobody that would be 

considered non-biased in the institution.  Like, the higher 

they go, the more higher up, the staff get involved.  

MICHELLE ALANIS: And, by the “higher they go”, 

you’re again referring to the length of the discipline or the— 

WARDEN RUSSELL: Correct. 

MICHELLE ALANIS: --the type of discipline.  

WARDEN RUSSELL: Yes.  

MICHELLE ALANIS: Okay.  And, can you tell me what 

is the purpose of the Pre-Disciplinary Hearing Officer?  

WARDEN RUSSELL: The Pre-Disciplinary Hearing 

Officer will get all the information from the investigation 

and they’ll also be able to sit down and hear from whoever the 

person is that’s at the disciplinary hearing.  That way 

there’s all sides and he can assess what he believes would be 
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a good outcome or what the outcome should be and any 

particular discipline.  

MICHELLE ALANIS: And, as the Pre-Disciplinary 

Hearing Officer, prior to conducting this hearing with the 

employee, do you review documents? 

WARDEN RUSSELL: I do.  

MICHELLE ALANIS: And, if there’s any applicable 

videos or photos, do you review those as well? 

WARDEN RUSSELL: Yes ma’am. 

MICHELLE ALANIS: Do you recall serving as the 

Pre-Disciplinary Hearing Officer in the discipline of Jose 

Navarrete?  

WARDEN RUSSELL: I do.  

MICHELLE ALANIS: And, what did you do to prepare 

for this Pre-Disciplinary Hearing? 

WARDEN RUSSELL: Reviewed the Specificity of 

Charges, the Pre-Disciplinary packet which consists of the 

investigation and a video.  

MICHELLE ALANIS: So, you reviewed the 

investigative file, the video and the specificity of charges? 

WARDEN RUSSELL: Correct. 

MICHELLE ALANIS: And so, by the time you get 

this, the specificity of charges had already been served on 

the employee, right? 

WARDEN RUSSELL: Correct. 
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MICHELLE ALANIS: And in this case, what did the 

specificity of charges recommend? 

WARDEN RUSSELL: I believe it recommended 

termination.  

MICHELLE ALANIS: Okay.  And, at the hearing, did 

Mr. Navarrete have the opportunity to present his side of the 

case?  

WARDEN RUSSELL: He did.  

MICHELLE ALANIS: And, was he represented at that 

hearing?  

WARDEN RUSSELL: He was.  

MICHELLE ALANIS: Do you remember some of the 

things that Mr. Navarrete addressed or brought up as his 

defense? 

DANIEL MARKS:  Your Honor, it’s kind of 

irrelevant because this is a de novo-- 

WARDEN RUSSELL: Yes.  He claimed that he should 

not be dismissed— 

[crosstalk]   

MICHELLE ALANIS: Hold on Warden Russell, hold on 

one second. 

WARDEN RUSSELL: Okay.  

HEARING OFFICER: Hang on Warden.  

DANIEL MARKS:  I would like to assert an 

objection.  You know the—you know the role of a Pre-
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Disciplinary Hearing.  We’re not raising any issue about the 

quality or the constitutional Loudermill issue.  Under 

O’Keefe, you’re going to deal with it de novo.   

So, in order to save time, do we really—is that 

really relevant?  We all know no witnesses were called.  He 

can testify to what he did.  I can cross him.  Limited on what 

he did, but you have a de novo review under O’Keefe and we’re 

not raising a Loudermill issue.  So, really what’s the point.  

MICHELLE ALANIS: Are you objecting to the point 

of his entire testimony or me asking him about— 

DANIEL MARKS:  His defense because you can’t 

call witnesses to these things.  He had a defense, but what 

can you do?   

MICHELLE ALANIS: Okay.   

DANIEL MARKS:  I mean, it’s a pre-term hearing.  

Is there relevance since under O’Keefe, you’re going to look 

at it de novo?  Is there really any point?  

MICHELLE ALANIS: I mean, in response to that, the 

role of the Pre-Disciplinary Hearing Officer, that’s the 

opportunity for the employee to present their side of the case 

because they’ve just been served with discipline.  There are 

times that the Pre-Disciplinary Hearing Officer reviews 

everything and may not concur with the proposed 

recommendation.  It could be because of the points raised by 

the employee.  
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DANIEL MARKS:  It’s up to you.  If you want to 

let it go, fine.   

MICHELLE ALANIS: It’s pretty much done.   

DANIEL MARKS:  I think we all—I think we all 

know that— 

HEARING OFFICER: I’m pretty sure, nobody’s going 

to find out, but go on ahead, I’ll let you continue.  I’ll let 

you continue.   

DANIEL MARKS:  I mean.  

MICHELLE ALANIS: Okay. 

DANIEL MARKS:  The Pre-Term Hearing—well, 

that’s fine.  We’ll just let it go. 

HEARING OFFICER: So, you want to restate that?    

MICHELLE ALANIS: All right.  

HEARING OFFICER: It was, what were his defenses, 

I think.   

MICHELLE ALANIS: It’s okay.  We don’t have to go 

over it.  I think [inaudible]  Warden Russell, following this 

Pre-Disciplinary Hearing Review, did you prepare a report?  

WARDEN RUSSELL: I did.  

MICHELLE ALANIS: Okay.  And, if I could have you—

I know I submitted our pre-hearing statement and exhibits.  Do 

you have an Exhibit B? 

WARDEN RUSSELL: I do.  
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MICHELLE ALANIS: And, it contains, it looks like 

three pages, NDOC 113 and it goes to 115? 

WARDEN RUSSELL: Hold on one second.  [pause]  

Yes.  

MICHELLE ALANIS: Okay.  And, specifically if we 

look at NDOC 114-115, is that the report that you prepared? 

WARDEN RUSSELL: Yes.  

MICHELLE ALANIS: Or memorandum, rather.  And this 

was dated April 12, 2017? 

WARDEN RUSSELL: Yes.  

MICHELLE ALANIS: Okay.  And, it looks like in 

this report, you actually note halfway down that Senior 

Navarrete made the following comment, [inaudible] the defenses 

or the arguments that he made at the hearing, correct?  

WARDEN RUSSELL: Yes.  

MICHELLE ALANIS: Okay.  And he claimed that he 

shouldn’t be dismissed for what another officer did.  He 

completed his report hours later and so forth.  Correct?  

WARDEN RUSSELL: Correct. 

MICHELLE ALANIS: Okay.  After hearing from 

Officer Navarrete and reviewing the documentation, what was 

your recommendation? 

WARDEN RUSSELL: I had recommendation 

termination.  
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MICHELLE ALANIS: And, why did you concur with the 

proposed termination?  

DANIEL MARKS:  It’s irrelevant.  I think it is 

totally irrelevant.   

MICHELLE ALANIS: Hold on one second, Warden 

Russell.  

DANIEL MARKS:  They didn’t bring in the 

decision.  This is the pre-term hearing.  I mean, she may say 

sometimes they reverse them but I think in all the years I’ve 

been doing this, is like a handful of pre-term hearing, it 

might be like, less than one-percent of all the pre-term 

hearings.  

So, we know if—once you’re terminated by the 

appointing authority, it’s virtually impossible to reverse 

their pre-term hearing.  No witnesses are called, etc.  This 

is a de novo review.  So, does it really matter?  There’s no 

witnesses called.  There’s no—it’s—you’re trying to talk 

somebody out of it and your chances of doing that, as we all 

know, is like lightning in a box.  

MICHELLE ALANIS: I’ve seen them, where they’re 

different.  Quite frankly, while we’re determining if he de 

novo committed the misconduct, step 2 and 3 under O’Keefe 

require us to show that the conduct is serious and require us 

to show why we should defer, you know, whether you’re 

deferring to the appointing authority.  
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HEARING OFFICER: I overrule the objection.  

MICHELLE ALANIS: Okay.   

HEARING OFFICER: Go on ahead.  

MICHELLE ALANIS: All right.  Warden Russell, the 

question I had posed was, why did you concur with the 

termination?  

WARDEN RUSSELL: On the point that he shouldn’t 

be dismissed for what occurred by another officer, through the 

video and the investigation, the inmate was standing on the 

wall for 10, 12, 15 minutes before anything occurred.  CO—I 

don’t remember the other CO’s name right off hand, basically 

walked up from behind.  Grabbed the inmate around the neck and 

they all tumbled to the ground.  None of which is in our POST 

training.  

I believe Senior and a CO there together, it was his 

responsibility and obligation to, over that 10 minute period, 

there was a lot of different things that could’ve been done 

other than that.  At no time did I see him resist and 

according to the—the report, he was resisting when he was 

trying to be restrained and I didn’t see any of that in the 

report, which spoke to the integrity of both officers.  

And, it didn’t appear as if anyone did anything to 

stop it, nor was there anything in the report to stop it.  He 

said he didn’t think that Valdez was be involved in a use of 

force and he couldn’t prevent it.  
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Over a 10 minute period, if he didn’t prevent it, he 

could’ve at least reported it correctly.  He claimed that the 

procedure, once the use of force occurred, he claimed he was 

not involved.  Being there, there was an obligation as a 

Senior, or even another officer, to be honest and put forth a 

correct report and to alert supervisory staff of what had 

occurred.  It speaks to the integrity of the officer.  

MICHELLE ALANIS: And, Warden Russell, it looks 

like on the second page of your memorandum here, you note some 

specifics with Senior Navarrete’s report where he claims that 

Valdez was attempting to restrain the inmate and claimed that 

Norales came off the wall.  

Then you point out that there is no mention of 

Officer Valdez pushing the inmate to the wall and you list 

some other—some other facts there.  Why did you specifically 

point out the things that were not mentioned?  

WARDEN RUSSELL: Because omission is a deception.  

I mean, none of that was brought forth and it should’ve been.  

After reviewing the video and the investigation, that report 

should’ve included at least that the inmate was on the wall 

for 10-15 minutes or 15-16 minutes.  And that the officer then 

pushed the inmate forward.  There was no resistance, grabbed 

around the neck and threw to the ground, which is not what the 

training is taught.   

MICHELLE ALANIS: And, I believe you-- 
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WARDEN RUSSELL: It was an assault basically.  

MICHELLE ALANIS: Okay.  So, is it your position 

that Senior Officer Navarrete’s report includes both false and 

misleading statements as well as omissions? 

WARDEN RUSSELL: It is.  

MICHELLE ALANIS: And, why are false—the false and 

misleading reports such egregious conduct?  

WARDEN RUSSELL: Because we depend on officers, 

together, to adhere the rules and procedures and regulations 

of the NDOC.  That is not what’s taught and it’s not the 

standard to be kept.  

MICHELLE ALANIS: Do officers frequently have to 

fill out reports? 

WARDEN RUSSELL: Yes.  

MICHELLE ALANIS: And you have to be able to rely 

on those? 

WARDEN RUSSELL: Yes.  

MICHELLE ALANIS: And, why are—so, in this case, 

you mentioned he permitted and did nothing to stop the force 

that occurred within that 10 minute period.  Why did you feel 

that that was a serious charge, arising to the level of a 

termination?  

WARDEN RUSSELL: Well, the inmate’s hands were on 

the wall above his head for over 10 minutes.  Valdez then 

pushes the inmate to the wall, wrestles him to the ground.  
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There’s no acceptable explanation for that.  And, Senior 

Navarrete did nothing to stop it, to oppose it, to let 

supervisory staff find out about it.  When I’m relying on 

officers, I need their integrity intact or things start going 

array, such as this.   

MICHELLE ALANIS: If Officer Navarrete was only 

charged with the use of force violation, would you still have 

concurred with the proposed termination?  

DANIEL MARKS:  Objection.  Calls for 

speculation.  

HEARING OFFICER: With the use of force, say that 

again? 

MICHELLE ALANIS: The—he has two violations under 

the AR.  One was the either willfully or permitting the use of 

force and the second one was the false or misleading.   

HEARING OFFICER: Are you asking would either one 

violation be sufficient for the discipline imposed?  

MICHELLE ALANIS: Yes.  

HEARING OFFICER: That’s probably a better 

question.   

MICHELLE ALANIS: Okay.  Warden Russell, would 

either one of those violations be enough to impose the 

termination? 

WARDEN RUSSELL: Yes.  
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MICHELLE ALANIS: And it’s your opinion that 

Officer Navarrete’s conduct warranted termination. 

WARDEN RUSSELL: Yes.  

MICHELLE ALANIS: And, my last question here, you 

mentioned in your report that you felt the termination would 

be in the best interest of the State of Nevada.  Can you tell 

me why you believe it would be in the best interest of the 

State? 

WARDEN RUSSELL: Sure.  We work out of integrity 

and at a certain standard that must be upheld.  When we don’t 

and we allow incidents such as this, it’s not the standard 

that we live by or work by.  The officers are basically part 

of—to hold not only—when you have a position of power, whether 

it’s over here inmates here or out in the street.  I worked 

undercover years ago in Colorado Springs.  You have a higher 

standard that you must live by.  That was not the standard 

that was upheld here.   

MICHELLE ALANIS: I have nothing further at this 

time.  

DANIEL MARKS:  Okay, I have a couple of 

questions.  Warden? 

WARDEN RUSSELL: Yes sir.  

DANIEL MARKS:  Yeah, this is Dan Marks, I don’t 

think we’ve met in any of these cases.  Did you ever work at 

Southern Desert?  
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WARDEN RUSSELL: I did.  

DANIEL MARKS:  How long ago? 

WARDEN RUSSELL: 2007 to about 2010. 

DANIEL MARKS:  Okay. 

WARDEN RUSSELL: Well, maybe ’12.  

DANIEL MARKS:  Okay.  And, what was your job 

there?  

WARDEN RUSSELL: Then, I was a case worker, a 

Case Worker I, Case Worker II, became a Case Worker III at 

High Desert.  

DANIEL MARKS:  And, what do case workers do? 

WARDEN RUSSELL: Just about everything except 

supervise the unit.  They do releases.  They do classification 

and housing means appropriately.  

DANIEL MARKS:  That’s a different job in 

corrections.  

WARDEN RUSSELL: It is.  It’s part of 

corrections, you go through POST. 

DANIEL MARKS:  But you’re not a corrections 

officer, it’s a different job, correct?  

WARDEN RUSSELL: Correct.  

DANIEL MARKS:  Okay.  Now, do you have your 

investigative report in front of you? 

WARDEN RUSSELL: Let me take a look.  [pause]   
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DANIEL MARKS:  Your report.  [crosstalk] Yeah, 

your memorandum.  

WARDEN RUSSELL: Oh yeah.   

DANIEL MARKS:  I was told you have it in front 

of you.  

WARDEN RUSSELL: I do.  

DANIEL MARKS:  It’s on Page 114 and 115, I 

guess.  

WARDEN RUSSELL: Oh wait, maybe that’s not—that’s 

not my memorandum, right? 

DANIEL MARKS:  It looks to me like it’s your 

memorandum.  

WARDEN RUSSELL: My memorandum is two pages.  

DANIEL MARKS:  Yeah. 

WARDEN RUSSELL: Let me look and see if-- 

DANIEL MARKS:  It’s bate stamp 114 and 115. 

HEARING OFFICER: Exhibit B. 

DANIEL MARKS:  Exhibit B.  All I’m asking you 

is, do you have that in front of you?  

WARDEN RUSSELL: Yes.  

DANIEL MARKS:  So, before—just so I’m clear, 

you were sent the investigative report, is that from Ron 

Moore? 

WARDEN RUSSELL: You know, I’d have to look 

because it’s been two years now since I’d done that.  
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DANIEL MARKS:  Okay.  There were no witnesses 

at the hearing.  

WARDEN RUSSELL: No.  

DANIEL MARKS:  I just want to know, kind of 

what you based your decision on.  It’s kind of hard by phone, 

but you got an investigative report, you don’t know if that’s 

from Rod Moore or not, correct?  

WARDEN RUSSELL: Hold on a minute, okay?  [pause]  

Yeah, I don’t remember who the investigator was. 

DANIEL MARKS:  Do you have Exhibit A or B in 

front of you? 

WARDEN RUSSELL: I have Exhibit B which is my 

memorandum.  

DANIEL MARKS:  Okay, do you have Exhibit A? 

WARDEN RUSSELL: No. 

DANIEL MARKS:  So, you don’t recall what 

investigative report you reviewed, correct? 

WARDEN RUSSELL: Correct. 

DANIEL MARKS:  You didn’t interview or have 

testimony in front of you live, from Correction Officer 

Valdez, correct? 

WARDEN RUSSELL: I did do his Disciplinary 

Hearing as well, but correct.  

DANIEL MARKS:  You didn’t have in front of you 

the Sergeant—acting Sergeant Knatz, K-N-A-T-Z. 
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WARDEN RUSSELL: No. 

DANIEL MARKS:  Who responded to the scene.  

WARDEN RUSSELL: Correct.  

DANIEL MARKS:  You didn’t have him put from 

him, correct?  

WARDEN RUSSELL: Correct. 

DANIEL MARKS:  You didn’t have in front of you 

live—the inmate himself, Norales, correct? 

WARDEN RUSSELL: Correct.  

DANIEL MARKS:  You didn’t have Wachter who was 

another correction officer who was at the scene.  

WARDEN RUSSELL: Correct.  

DANIEL MARKS:  You didn’t have in front of you 

or evidence from Sergeant now Lieutenant Willets, who was the 

shift commander, correct?  

WARDEN RUSSELL: Correct. 

DANIEL MARKS:  Now, regarding the reports, 

it’s—correction officers in a year can write reports very 

frequently, it’s not a one-shot, one-time situation, correct? 

WARDEN RUSSELL: That’s correct. 

DANIEL MARKS:  And, very typically, their 

commanding officer, usually their Sergeant will send a report 

back if they think there needs to be more information or more 

clarity about a subject, correct? 

WARDEN RUSSELL: Correct.  
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DANIEL MARKS:  And generally, these reports, in 

general at Southern Desert were a couple of paragraphs.  They 

weren’t what I’d call a 10-page paper, correct? 

WARDEN RUSSELL: It would depend on the writer, 

but yeah, normally they were fairly short.  

DANIEL MARKS:  And the Sergeant would have the 

opportunity to say, hey this case needs more, go back and give 

more detail, watch the video, and give more detail, correct?  

WARDEN RUSSELL: Okay. 

MICHELLE ALANIS: I’m going to object.  I think 

we’re kind of beyond the scope— 

DANIEL MARKS:  No, this is relevant.  They’re 

accusing him of a false report.  What could be more relevant 

than what type of report he’s [crosstalk] in the institution, 

what could be more relevant?  

HEARING OFFICER: Yeah.  I’m going to allow it.  

MICHELLE ALANIS: Okay.  

DANIEL MARKS:  Now, isn’t it true sir that you—

you did your memo—in terms of videos, you only saw the video 

without audio.  You never saw the second video that had audio, 

correct?  

WARDEN RUSSELL: I can’t remember, I think I saw 

two videos.  

DANIEL MARKS:  Did you see the second video, or 

you don’t know.  
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WARDEN RUSSELL: It was taken from the other 

angle, is that it or-- 

DANIEL MARKS:  No, it had audio.  Did you ever 

see a video with audio? 

WARDEN RUSSELL: Yes.  

DANIEL MARKS:  Okay.  Now, you don’t have in 

your report that the officers found the inmate had smuggled 

food, additional food out of culinary, do you? 

WARDEN RUSSELL: No. 

DANIEL MARKS:  And, isn’t that significant that 

the inmate actually smuggled food and violated a rule and 

that’s why he was put on the wall for an extended period, 

that’s not in your report, correct? 

WARDEN RUSSELL: Correct.  

DANIEL MARKS:  You also in your report say the 

inmate was on the wall and ordered to stay in this position 

for 15-16 minutes.  

WARDEN RUSSELL: Yes.  

DANIEL MARKS:  Isn’t it correct and you know 

now it was under 11 minutes.   

WARDEN RUSSELL: Okay.  Even if it was 10 

minutes, it was plenty of time to do something different.  

DANIEL MARKS:  Okay, but you said it was 15-16 

minutes.  
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WARDEN RUSSELL: And if he was taking food, that 

still does not let you take him off the wall the way he was 

taken.  

DANIEL MARKS:  Okay.  I’m going to get to that, 

but I’m asking you, you didn’t put in your report that he 

smuggled food out and violated the rule, correct? 

WARDEN RUSSELL: Correct. 

DANIEL MARKS:  That was an honest mistake, you 

didn’t intend to mislead anyone by leaving it out.  

MICHELLE ALANIS: Objection.  Asked and answered.  

DANIEL MARKS:  Did you?  Did you intend to 

mislead anyone? 

MICHELLE ALANIS: He just ruled on the— 

HEARING OFFICER: Overruled.   

DANIEL MARKS:  Next, okay.  You put that he was 

on the wall 15-16 minutes, now you know it was under 11.  

That’s correct? 

WARDEN RUSSELL: Correct. 

DANIEL MARKS:  That was an honest mistake on 

your part, correct? 

WARDEN RUSSELL: Correct.  

DANIEL MARKS:  You didn’t intend to mislead 

anyone?  

WARDEN RUSSELL: No. 
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DANIEL MARKS:  Now, you didn’t hear whether or 

not the inmate was being compliant, correct, because you 

didn’t hear the inmates words, correct? 

WARDEN RUSSELL: Correct. 

DANIEL MARKS:  If an inmate is not being 

compliant on the wall, a correctional officer has a right to 

hand cuff the inmate and take them to the Sergeant, correct? 

WARDEN RUSSELL: By compliant, you mean like he’s 

talking to him or he’s staying on the wall? 

DANIEL MARKS:  No, if he won’t keep his hands 

on the wall.  

WARDEN RUSSELL: His hands were on the wall.  

DANIEL MARKS:  So, you thought his hands were 

on the wall the whole 11 minutes.  

WARDEN RUSSELL: Not the whole 11 minutes, when 

they first put him on the wall, they rearranged him and made 

him move his legs and move his arms.  Then he stayed on that 

wall.  

DANIEL MARKS:  And you thought he never took 

his hands off the wall for the rest of the time he was on the 

wall, is that what you’re saying? 

WARDEN RUSSELL: Not—not for him to be taken to 

the ground, no.  

DANIEL MARKS:  That’s not my question sir.  If 

a correction officer tells an inmate to maintain the position, 
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hands above his head, keep his hands on the wall and the 

inmate refuses, the correction officer is allowed to cuff him 

up and take him to the shift sergeant, correct? 

WARDEN RUSSELL: Correct.  

DANIEL MARKS:  And that’s policy, that’s not 

considered use of force, that’s allowed, correct? 

WARDEN RUSSELL: That’s correct.   

DANIEL MARKS:  Now, when an in—when a 

correction officer is going to cuff an inmate, he has to feel 

whether the inmate is going to allow that cuffing or resist, 

correct?  

WARDEN RUSSELL: Correct.  

DANIEL MARKS:  And that’s a judgment call by 

the correction officer, if he feels resistance, correct? 

WARDEN RUSSELL: Correct. 

DANIEL MARKS:  And, if he feels resistance, 

he’s to use the least amount of force to facilitate or to get 

the cuffing accomplished.  Sometimes that includes going to 

the ground, isn’t that correct? 

WARDEN RUSSELL: Depending on the amount of 

resistance, yes.  If there’s a lot of resistance, you would 

end up on the ground.  

DANIEL MARKS:  Right and in this case, there 

was enough resistance that they tussled some 10 feet away from 

the wall, correct?  
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WARDEN RUSSELL: No, that is not correct.  

MICHELLE ALANIS: Objection.  Assumes facts not in 

evidence.   

WARDEN RUSSELL: He pushed the inmate into the 

wall.  

MICHELLE ALANIS: Hold on Warden Russell.  Hold 

on.   

HEARING OFFICER: Hold on.  

WARDEN RUSSELL: [crosstalk] around the inmate’s 

neck.   

MICHELLE ALANIS: Warden Russell, hold on please.  

There’s an objection.  

DANIEL MARKS:  I’ll just— 

HEARING OFFICER: Yeah.  

DANIEL MARKS:  The inmate did resist the 

attempt—the inmate resisted such that they did not fall 

directly to the ground, correct?   

WARDEN RUSSELL: No, that is not correct.  

MICHELLE ALANIS: I’m going to—objection.  That’s— 

DANIEL MARKS:  The parties didn’t fall directly 

to the ground, there was a tussle that went a number of feet 

away from the wall, isn’t that, correct? 

MICHELLE ALANIS: It misstates.  

WARDEN RUSSELL: Not from what I saw, no.  That 

is not correct.  
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DANIEL MARKS:  All right, we’ll let the video 

then speak for itself.  

MICHELLE ALANIS: Exactly.   

DANIEL MARKS:  Now, when a correction officer 

decides to cuff an inmate, that’s often a split second 

decision, correct?  

WARDEN RUSSELL: Correct. 

DANIEL MARKS:  And they have to make that in 

the yard, under tense and outnumbered conditions, they’re 

outnumbered 100:1, correct?  

WARDEN RUSSELL: There were three officers around 

one inmate.  

DANIEL MARKS:  But I’m saying, there’s some 300 

inmates in the yard for three officers, we’ve already heard 

that testimony today.  Isn’t that correct?  

WARDEN RUSSELL: Not in the immediate vicinity 

but there was other inmates across the yard, yes.  

DANIEL MARKS:  Okay.  Now, your only 

involvement in this case was the Pre-Disciplinary Hearing? 

WARDEN RUSSELL: That’s correct.  

DANIEL MARKS:  And that was the end of it?  

WARDEN RUSSELL: Yes.  

DANIEL MARKS:  And you didn’t make the original 

decision to terminate.  

WARDEN RUSSELL: No. 
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DANIEL MARKS:  And, the only witness, really 

that you dealt with in the Jose Navarrete case was Jose 

Navarrete, that’s the only person you talked to, correct? 

WARDEN RUSSELL: Correct, other than the other 

Pre-Discip, I did on Valdez.  

DANIEL MARKS:  But you didn’t—at Jose’s 

hearing-- 

WARDEN RUSSELL: No. 

DANIEL MARKS:  --Valdez didn’t show.  

WARDEN RUSSELL: No, it was just Navarrete and 

his counsel.  

DANIEL MARKS:  Okay.  I’ll pass the witness.   

HEARING OFFICER: All right.  Any redirect? 

MICHELLE ALANIS: No. 

HEARING OFFICER: Warden, thank you very much for 

your testimony today.   

WARDEN RUSSELL: Your welcome.  

HEARING OFFICER: We appreciate you waiting so 

long.  Thank you.   

MICHELLE ALANIS: Thank you Warden Russell.  

WARDEN RUSSELL: Thank you.  Have a good night.  

MICHELLE ALANIS: You too.  

HEARING OFFICER: You too sir, bye.  

WARDEN RUSSELL: Bye now.  

HEARING OFFICER: [disconnects]  I have dates.  
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DANIEL MARKS:  Let’s look at them.  

HEARING OFFICER: I have—unfortunately, they gave 

me these dates.  April 5th.  

MICHELLE ALANIS: Hold on one second.  

HEARING OFFICER: April 16th. 

DANIEL MARKS:  I can’t do the 5th. 

MICHELLE ALANIS: I can’t do the 5th either.  

DANIEL MARKS:  16th.  

HEARING OFFICER: Or the 26th. 

MICHELLE ALANIS: Give me—give me one second.   

HEARING OFFICER: This is April, right?  

MICHELLE ALANIS: We are in April, yes.  

DANIEL MARKS:  You want to do 16? 

MICHELLE ALANIS: What are the dates that you 

just— 

HEARING OFFICER: I have 5, 16 and 26.  Which I’m 

surprised I got— 

MICHELLE ALANIS: 5, 16 and 26? 

HEARING OFFICER: Yeah.  

MICHELLE ALANIS: How is your calendar looking?  I 

can’t do the 26th.   

HEARING OFFICER: I could’ve sworn I had a trial— 

MICHELLE ALANIS: But I can do the 16th.  Are you 

able to do the 16th?   

[crosstalk]  
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SPEAKER:   What day is today? 

MICHELLE ALANIS: Today is the 2nd.  

HEARING OFFICER: The 2nd.  That’s exactly two 

weeks from today. 

MICHELLE ALANIS: Two weeks from today, so it’s a 

Tuesday.  

SPEAKER:   I should be okay.  

MICHELLE ALANIS: You should be okay?  

SPEAKER:   Yeah.  Yeah.  Tuesdays usually 

are good.  

HEARING OFFICER: All right.  I’m going to set it 

then for the 16th at 9:00.  

DANIEL MARKS:  16th at 9:00.  

HEARING OFFICER: Hopefully it won’t take all day, 

you never know, but if it does it does, I don’t want to rush 

anybody.   

DANIEL MARKS:  All right, great.   

HEARING OFFICER: Logically speaking, it should be 

done in a half a day. 

DANIEL MARKS:  And they just have one more 

witness.  

MICHELLE ALANIS: Yes.  

DANIEL MARKS:  And we’ll just start that—you 

want to just start that on the 16th? 

HEARING OFFICER: If the witness-- 
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MICHELLE ALANIS: If they kick us out at 5:00, I 

guess we might as well wait.  

DANIEL MARKS:  I would just assume.  

MICHELLE ALANIS: Rather than start now.  

HEARING OFFICER: Who is it?  

MICHELLE ALANIS: It’s Warden Howell.  He’s going 

to be forced to return anyway.  

HEARING OFFICER: Oh, okay.  Well, I don’t know, 

forced.   

[crosstalk]  

HEARING OFFICER: He’s going to be invited.   

MICHELLE ALANIS: Sorry.  

DANIEL MARKS:  [crosstalk] Why don’t we just do 

it on the 16th, so it’s fresh.  

HEARING OFFICER: All right.   

MICHELLE ALANIS: That’s okay with me.  

DANIEL MARKS:  He’s just going to go through— 

[crosstalk]  

HEARING OFFICER: He’s your last witness, right?  

Probably? 

MICHELLE ALANIS: Yes. Yes.  

HEARING OFFICER: Whatever, if somebody comes up— 

DANIEL MARKS:  Let’s just do it on the 16th. 

HEARING OFFICER: And then you have some people 

you’re going to have come.  
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DANIEL MARKS:  Yeah, we have five witnesses.  A 

lot of them are short.  

HEARING OFFICER: All right.  

DANIEL MARKS:  All right.  

HEARING OFFICER: Let’s do that then.  

DANIEL MARKS:  Thank you.   

HEARING OFFICER: We shall return.   

[end of proceeding]   
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